
For disability accommodation contact the City of Covington at 253-480-2400 a minimum of 24 hours in advance.  For TDD 
relay service, dial (800) 833-6384 and ask the operator to dial 253-480-2400. 

Covington: Unmatched quality of life 
CITY OF COVINGTON 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
www.covingtonwa.gov 

 
 
Tuesday, October 22, 2013                                                                         City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                   16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
Note:  A Special Joint Meeting with the Arts Commission is scheduled from 6:00 to 7:00 p.m.  

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 
   
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not 
the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per speaker.  
Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Vouchers (Hendrickson) 
C-2. Approve Interlocal Agreement with the Association of Washington Cities (Beaufrere) 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
1. Receive Testimony from the Public Regarding 2014 Revenues Sources and Possible Increase 

in  Property Tax Revenues (Hendrickson) 
2. Receive Testimony from the Public and Consider Adopting Kent School District’s Six Year 

Capital Facilities Plan and 2014 School Impact Fees (Hart) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
3. Discuss Interim Zoning Regulations Regarding Recreational Marijuana (Springer) 
4. Briefing on Results of Salary Survey (Beaufrere) 

 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 

 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – If Needed 
  
ADJOURN 

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/�


Consent Agenda Item C-1 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: October 22, 2013 
 
 
SUBJECT:  APROVAL OF VOUCHERS.  
 
RECOMMENDED BY: Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
 
ATTACHMENT(S)

 

:  Vouchers #30102—30153, in the Amount of $100,075.70, Dated 
October 1, 2013; Vouchers #20154-30154, in the Amount of $80.00, Dated October 9, 2013; 
and Paylocity Payroll Checks #1001654191-1001654203 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct 
Deposits in the Amount of $149,438.94, Dated October 11, 2013. 

PREPARED BY:  Joan Michaud, Senior Deputy City Clerk 
 
EXPLANATION: Not applicable. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: Not applicable. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: Not applicable. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:    Ordinance _____ Resolution     X      Motion            Other  

 
Councilmember ___________ moves, Councilmember _________________ 
seconds, to approve for payment Vouchers #30102—30153, in the Amount 
of $100,075.70, Dated October 1, 2013; Vouchers #20154-30154, in the 
Amount of $80.00, Dated October 9, 2013; and Paylocity Payroll Checks 
#1001654191-1001654203 Inclusive, Plus Employee Direct Deposits in the 
Amount of $149,438.94, Dated October 11, 2013. 
. 
 
. 
 
 
 

 

1 of 119



2 of 119



3 of 119



4 of 119



5 of 119



6 of 119



7 of 119



8 of 119



9 of 119



10 of 119



11 of 119



12 of 119



13 of 119



Agenda Item C-2  
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: October 22, 2013  
 
SUBJECT

 

:  CONSIDER AND APPROVE NEW INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE CITY OF COVINGTON AND THE ASSOCIATION OF WASHINGTON 
CITIES EMPLOYEE BENEFIT TRUST RELATING TO THE HEALTH CARE 
PROGRAM.  

RECOMMENDED BY
                                          

:  Derek Matheson, City Manager 

ATTACHMENT(S)
1. Proposed Resolution to Jointly Self-Insure Certain Health Benefit Plans and Programs for 

Beneficiaries Through a Designated Account Within the Association of Washington 
Cities Employee Benefit Trust. 

: 

2. Proposed Interlocal Agreement between the City of Covington and the Association of 
Washington Cities Employee Benefit Trust for a Joint Self-Insured Health Care Program. 

 
PREPARED BY
 

:  Noreen Beaufrere, Personnel Manager 

EXPLANATION
On August 26, 2013, the State Risk Manager approved the Association of Washington Cities 
(AWC) Trust’s application to self-insure the medical plans through Group Health and Regence 
Blue Shield, the Vision Service Plan (VSP), and the Washington Dental Service (WDS) plan, 
effective January 1, 2014. 

: 

 
AWC’s decision to self-insure was motivated by the potential for cost savings to Trust members.  
Self-insurance allows the Trust to eliminate several taxes mandatory for fully insured plans, 
including a 2% state tax and a 2%-3% new 2014 federal insurer tax.  Retention and stop loss fees 
were also lowered, as well.    Additionally, the AWC Trust trend line has been lower than 
carriers’ trends for many years.  Together, this bodes well for rates now and in the future. 
Consequently, for 2014, there will be a 0% increase across all the above-mentioned medical 
plans.   
 
Impacts to both the employer and employees are minimal to none.  The notable change for 
employers is the need for a council adoption by resolution of the Interlocal Agreement between 
the city and the AWC Trust, while the only possible change for employees may be the generation 
of a new ID card.  The rest, however, remains the same:  
 
 The city will still be part of the Trust’s large pool, which will now be self-insured. 
 The transition to self-insurance will not change the manner in which plans are rated (i.e., 

the Trust will continue to pool all member claims rather than develop rates based upon 
individual employer loss experience).   

 The monthly bill to the city will still be generated by Northwest Administrators and due 
at the same time it is currently due. 

14 of 119



 WellCity Award recipients will continue to receive a 2% discount off of the base rate of 
medical premiums. 

 Benefit plan designs remain the same. 
 Employees have access to the same provider networks. 
 Claims will be processed by the same carriers. 

 
Both the Resolution and Interlocal Agreement were provided by AWC for member cities to 
utilize in this regard.  While the Resolution was in a template format that needed to be 
personalized by each member city, no amendments may be made to the Interlocal Agreement.  
The Interlocal Agreement was drafted by counsel to the Trust, then reviewed and approved by 
the Board of Trustees and the State Risk Manager.  Amendments to the Interlocal must go 
through a lengthy process which includes all signatories to the Interlocal to approve and re-sign 
the agreement. 
 
The city must return copies of the approved Resolution and the signed Interlocal 
Agreement to the AWC Benefit Trust no later than November 15, 2013.  Members who do 
not return these documents will not be eligible to purchase medical, dental, and vision 
benefits from the Trust as of January 1, 2014, and will not be able to take advantage of the 
favorable rates. 
 
ALTERNATIVES

1. Do not approve the Attachment 1 Resolution and Attachment 2 Interlocal Agreement. 
: 

 
FISCAL IMPACT
No fiscal impact. 

:   

 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance         Resolution     X   
 

Motion         Other 

Council member _____________ moves, Council member ________________ 
seconds, to authorize the City Manager to enter into an Interlocal Agreement 
between the City of Covington and the Association of Washington Cities 
relating to a joint self-insured Health Care Program. 

 
REVIEWED BY
 

:  City Manager, City Attorney and Finance Director. 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

15 of 119



 

CITY OF COVINGTON, WASHINGTON 
RESOLUTION NO. 13-07 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON; TO JOINTLY SELF-
INSURE CERTAIN HEALTH BENEFIT PLANS AND PROGRAMS 
FOR BENEFICIARIES THROUGH A DESIGNATED ACCOUNT 
WITHIN THE ASSOCIATION OF WASHINGTON CITIES 
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT TRUST. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Association of Washington Cities Employee Benefit Trust (the “Trust”) 
is an entity to which contributions by cities and towns and non-city entities organized and 
existing under the Constitution or laws of the State of Washington and who are members of the 
Trust (“Participating Cities and Towns,” and “Participating Non-City Entities”) and their 
employees can be paid and through which the Board of Trustees of the Trust (“Trustees”) 
provides one or more insured health and welfare benefit plans or programs to Participating Cities 
and Towns’ and Non-City Entities’ employees, their dependents and other beneficiaries 
(“Beneficiaries”), on whose behalf the contributions were paid; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Trust qualifies as a voluntary employee beneficiary association within 
the meaning of Section 501(c)(9) of the Internal Revenue Code, providing for the payment of 
life, sick, accident or other benefits to Beneficiaries; and   
 
 WHEREAS, the Trust and Participating Cities and Towns and Non-City Entities have 
determined that it is in the best interest of Participating Cities and Towns and Non-City Entities 
to jointly self-insure certain health benefit plans and programs for Beneficiaries through a 
designated account within the Trust, while at the same time having the Trust continue as the 
entity to which other insured health and welfare benefit program contributions are paid and 
through which insured health and welfare benefit plans and programs are provided to 
Beneficiaries; and  
 
 WHEREAS, it appears economically feasible and practical for the parties to do so; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 48.62 RCW provides that two or more local government entities 
may, by Interlocal Agreement under chapter 39.34 RCW, jointly self-insure health benefit plans 
and programs, and/or jointly hire risk management services for such plans or programs by any 
one or more of certain specified methods; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Association of Washington Cities Employee Benefit Trust Interlocal 
Agreement (the “Interlocal Agreement”) attached hereto creates a joint self-insured health and 
welfare benefit program (the “Health Care Program”) to be administered by the Trustees for the 
purposes of providing self-insured health benefits to Beneficiaries; and  

 

ATTACHMENT 1 

16 of 119



WHEREAS, WAC 200-110-030 requires every local government entity participating in 
a joint self-insurance health and welfare benefit program to adopt such program by resolution; 
and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 48.62 requires Health Care Program assets to be managed 
consistent with existing authority over use of municipal funds in RCW 35.39.030.  The Trust will 
manage Health Care Program reserves in compliance with Chapter 48.62 RCW; RCW 
35.39.030, and the Health Care Program Investment Policy; and  

 
WHEREAS, all premium contributions for use in the Health Care Program are deposited 

into a designated account within the Trust, the Health Care Program Account (the “HCP 
Account”), and the HCP Account represents a pool of funds that is independent of all other Trust 
or AWC funds; and 

 
WHERAS, the Trust intends to manage the HCP Account assets in compliance with 

federal and state laws and the Interlocal Agreement; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City of Covington, Washington, believes it is in the best interest of the 

Health Care Program to allow the Trust to manage the HCP Account; 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Covington, Washington, as 
follows: 
 
 The City Council does hereby approve the City Manager to adopt for the City the 
Interlocal Agreement creating the Health Care Program; and, that by adopting such Agreement, 
the City of Covington, Washington, acknowledges that it shall be subject to assessments as 
required by the Health Care Program. 
 
 PASSED in open and regular session on this 22nd day of October, 2013. 
        
        
                                         

Mayor Margaret Harto 
         
 
ATTESTED: 
 
 
_________________________ 
Sharon Scott 
City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_________________________ 
Sara Springer 

17 of 119



City Attorney 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT 2 

18 of 119



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

19 of 119



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

20 of 119



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

21 of 119



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

22 of 119



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

23 of 119



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

24 of 119



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

25 of 119



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

26 of 119



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

27 of 119



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

28 of 119



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

29 of 119



 

 

30 of 119



 Agenda Item 1 
 Covington City Council Meeting                     
 Date: October 22, 2013 
 

SUBJECT:  PRELIMINARY PUBLIC HEARING TO RECEIVE TESTIMONY FROM THE 
PUBLIC AND PRESENTATION FROM STAFF REGARDING 2014 REVENUE 
SOURCES AND POSSIBLE INCREASE IN PROPERTY TAX REVENUES 

 

ATTACHMENT(S):  
1. Description of 2014 Revenue Sources. 
2. PowerPoint Presentation. 
3. 2013-2019 Base Revenue and Expenditure Forecast – All Funds.  
4. Property Tax Worksheet. 

 
COUNCILMEMBERS AND STAFF: PLEASE REMEMBER TO BRING YOUR 
PRELIMINARY 2014 BUDGET WORKBOOK BINDERS TO THE MEETING. 

THANK YOU! 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Rob Hendrickson, Finance Director 
 
EXPLANATION:   
This public hearing is required under state law (RCW 84.55.120) to consider possible increases 
in property tax revenues and to review other revenue sources that support the City’s general 
fund.  The Finance Director will review the history of Covington’s revenue collections, the 
current year’s collections, and 2014’s revenue projections.  

 
This hearing, mandated by law, should focus on the City’s revenue sources and potential 
adjustments to property tax revenues. The deadline for setting 2014 property tax levies for cities 
in King County is November 30, 2013. 

 
It is the policy of the City to follow applicable laws as they relate to the budget process. 
 
ALTERNATIVES:   
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION: ____Ordinance  ____Resolution  _____Motion       X    Other 
 
 

NO COUNCIL ACTION REQUIRED AT THIS MEETING 

31 of 119



- 257 - 

 
.  

 
 
 

DESCRIPTION OF 2014 REVENUE SOURCES 
 
This summary describes each of the major revenue sources that appear in the 2014 budget by 
category. Budget amounts are based on the best available information at the time of budget 
preparation. 
 
Beginning Fund Balance All Funds 
This is the estimate of funds remaining unspent at the end of the previous budget year and 
available for use in the following budget year. This amount will fluctuate annually depending on 
the amount of reserves, under or over collection of revenues, and under or over expenditure of 
appropriations. 
 

TAXES 
 
Property Taxes General Fund 
Property taxes are one of the largest and most stable sources of revenue for the City. The City 
has budgeted, as state law limits allow, a levy increase of 101%. An increment for new 
construction is also added to this amount. The estimated levy for 2014 is $2,427,134. The 
taxable assessed valuation (AV) is $1,608,713,530 which includes $24,999,941 in new 
construction.  The estimated levy rate is $1.50874/$1,000 AV.   

 
The City saw a 24% decrease in assessed value from 2009 to 2014.  

 
  

 $1,328,452  

 $1,483,443  

 $1,655,993  

 $1,880,099  

 $2,112,709  

 $1,815,496  

 $1,720,936  

 $1,578,830  
 $1,537,455  

 $1,608,714  

 $1,000,000  

 $1,200,000  

 $1,400,000  

 $1,600,000  

 $1,800,000  

 $2,000,000  

 $2,200,000  

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Th
ou

sa
nd

s 

Total Taxable Assessed Values 
Real and Personal Property 

For the Fiscal Years 2005 through 2014 

ATTACHMENT 1

32 of 119



- 258 - 

Sales Taxes General Fund/Parks Fund 
Sales taxes are subject to fluctuation from year to year due to changes in the economy and the 
buying habits of consumers. Sales tax is distributed monthly and is based on sales from two 
months previous. Revenues for 2014 are estimated at $3,507,000. Sales tax is currently divided 
between the General Fund and Parks Fund 84% and 16% respectively. The total sales tax of 
8.6% is distributed among public agencies as follows: 
 
 
 

Sales Tax Distribution 
Agency Tax 

Rate  
State of Washington 6.500% 
City of Covington 0.926% 
King County/METRO 0.900% 
King County  0.075% 
King County Criminal Justice Levy 0.099% 
King County Mental Health 0.100% 
    
Total Sales Tax Rate  8.600% 
  
 
 

  
 
 

 
 
 
  

$0 
$500 

$1,000 
$1,500 
$2,000 
$2,500 
$3,000 
$3,500 
$4,000 

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Th
ou

sa
nd

s 

 
 

Sales Tax by Classifications 
For the Fiscal Years 2005 through 2014 

 
 

Retail Food Services 

2005 - 2012 - Actuals 2013 - Estimated Actuals     2014 - Budget 
 

33 of 119



- 259 - 

Utility Taxes General Fund/Parks Fund/Street Fund 
Utility taxes are imposed on utilities such as electricity, natural gas, solid waste, cable, 
telephones, storm drainage, and cellular phones. In 2007, the City adopted a 5.5% utility tax.  In 
2011 the City increased the rate to 6%.  The new rate took effect February 1, 2012.  The 
additional 0.5% is dedicated to the maintenance and operation of City parks.  In June 2012, the 
City began charging its own drainage utility; these taxes are remitted to the General Fund.  
Revenues for 2014 are estimated at $2,080,100. Utility tax revenues are allocated between the 
General Fund, Parks Fund, and Street Fund.  
 

 
 

Criminal Justice Sales Tax General Fund 
King County levies an optional 0.1% sales tax to support criminal justice programs, under 
authority granted by the State. This optional tax, collected by the State, is distributed as follows: 
10% to the County, and the remainder to cities and towns on the basis of population. The 2014 
estimate of $365,000 is based on inflation and population growth. This tax is distributed monthly 
to cities.  
 
Real Estate Excise Tax (REET) Real Estate Excise Tax Funds 
The real estate excise tax is levied on all sales of real estate, measured by the full selling price, 
including the amount of any liens, mortgages, and other debts given to secure the purchase. 
The state levies this tax at the rate of 1.28%. The City has also authorized a locally imposed tax 
of 0.5%, in two 0.25% increments, replacing that tax formally levied by King County. Both 
increments must be spent for local capital improvements, identified under the capital facilities 
plan element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan. The amount of tax collected depends totally 
upon real estate sales activity for residential and non-residential, including new construction and 
economic fluctuations. The 2014 estimates are based on estimated changes in real estate 
prices, new residential development increases, and new non-residential development increases. 

 $-  

 $500  

 $1,000  

 $1,500  

 $2,000  

 $2,500  

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Th
ou

sa
nd

s 

Utility Tax by Classification  
For the Fiscal Years 2008 Through 2014 

Electric Gas Solid Waste 

2008 – 2012 Actuals 2013 - Estimated Actuals    2014 - Budget 
 

34 of 119



- 260 - 

Distribution occurs on the 10th of each month to cities in King County. The 2014 revenue 
estimate is $480,000.  
 

LICENSES AND PERMITS 
 
Building, Permits, Misc. Development Services Fund 
Licenses and permit activities are user fees derived from various regulatory activities of the City. 
Building permit revenues are based on staff estimates and are applied to the Development 
Services Fund. In 2014, $236,700 is estimated based on 14 new single family permits, 
anticipated commercial fees, and land use revenues.  A fee of $60 is collected for business 
licenses from those businesses that conduct activities within the City. This fee is collected 
annually and is also applied to the Development Services Fund. The 2014 revenue estimate for 
this license fee is $83,000. For 2014, all other permits and licenses such as sign permits and 
peddler’s permits are estimated at $5,300.  
 
 

 
 
 
Cable TV Franchise Street Fund 
Cable TV franchise fees, which are applied to the Street Fund, are based on population growth. 
For 2014 the estimated fees are $220,000. 
 
Solid Waste Administration General Fund 
In 2013, the City entered into a franchise agreement with Republic Services.  For 2014 the 
estimated revenue is $75,000. 

 
  

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

350 

400 

450 

500 

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Number of Building Permits Issued 
For Fiscal Years 2004 Through 2013 

35 of 119



- 261 - 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL 
 
Liquor Excise Tax General Fund 
The 2014 estimate of $21,539 is based on the City’s population and per capita estimates 
provided by Municipal Research Services Center.  
 
Liquor Board Profits General Fund 
The State is now collecting revenue in the form of license fees from distributors and retailers.  A 
portion of these “liquor profits” come to the City.  The initiative provides that each recipient 
receive no less than it received from the liquor revolving fund during a set comparable period.  
What this means for the City is, we will be receiving the same distribution each year in the future 
with no allowances for inflation.  To be eligible to receive this revenue and Liquor Excise Taxes, 
a city must devote at least 2% of its distribution to support an approved alcoholism or drug 
addiction program as well as enhanced public safety programs. The 2014 estimate of $160,909 
is based on estimates provided by Municipal Research Services Center. This money is 
distributed quarterly beginning in March.   
 
Motor Vehicle Fuel Street Fund 
State law provides that the State-levied tax on gasoline be shared with cities and towns. Of the 
base tax amount of 23 cents per gallon, 6.92% is redistributed to cities and towns to be used for 
street maintenance as well as construction, improvement, chip sealing, seal coating, and repair 
of arterial highways and city streets. These funds will be deposited in the Street Fund and used 
for the described purposes. Estimates are based on the City’s population and per capita 
estimates provided by Municipal Research Services Center. This tax is distributed on the last 
day of the month. For 2014, we are estimating $369,240.  
 
Criminal Justice Shared Revenues General Fund 
Municipal Criminal Justice Funding has shifted from application based to a per capita 
distribution. Estimates are based on the City’s population and per capita estimates provided by 
Municipal Research Services Center. For 2014, we are estimating $50,653.  
 
Recycling Grants General Fund 
The City is involved with King County and the State of Washington in an effort to encourage 
recycling. The City offers events in the spring and fall of every year. Costs for these events are 
reimbursed to the City through the grant process. For 2014 we estimate being awarded 
$24,354.  

 
CHARGES FOR SERVICES 

 
Interfund Service Payments/Overhead General Fund 
These fees are collected from other funds within the City for their percentage of General Fund 
services that they require. There are two interfund payments - central services overhead and 
interfund service payments. Central services overhead is spread over every fund besides the 
General Fund based on the amount of FTEs. Each fund pays their proportional share of the 
Central Services Department which consists of things such as the building lease, office 
supplies, and IT. Beginning in 2012, the central services overhead payments are a direct 
reduction to the City’s Central Services Department base budget, therefore there is no revenue 
recorded.  
 
The interfund service payment is for each fund’s share of the assistance they receive from the 
City Manager, Finance, Legal, and Personnel offices. The 2014 budget is estimated at 
$433,524.   

36 of 119



- 262 - 

Land Use/Inspection/Engineering Fees Development Services Fund 
These fees are collected for services related to the issuance of permits for both residential and 
commercial aspects of construction or capital improvements, and for services related to the 
review of plans for compliance with aspects of the various codes. Fees are generally collected 
at a level estimated to recover the cost of the service. The 2014 budget for these fees is 
estimated at $619,868.  
 
Parks Fees Parks Fund 
These fees are collected for services related to the Aquatic Center and Recreation programs. 
The 2014 revenues are estimated at $488,180.  
 
Surface Water Management Fees Surface Water Management Fund 
These fees are collected on developed properties within the City to maintain storm and surface 
water runoff in the City. These fees provide for things such as maintenance and repair and 
construction of storm water facilities. The 2014 budget is estimated at $1,754,862.  
 
 

FINES AND FORFEITURES 
 
District Court, False Alarm, and Miscellaneous Fines General Fund 
The City is entitled to money received in payment of fines, forfeitures, fees, costs and penalties 
associated with enforcement of local ordinances. Based on current collections we are estimating 
$156,500 in revenue for 2014. In 2014 the City will again be utilizing King County for its court 
services through an interlocal agreement. As part of the agreement, King County receives 100% 
of revenues collected to provide the City’s court services.  

 
 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
Technology Surcharge General Fund 
These fees are collected for services related to the issuance of permits for both residential and 
commercial aspects of construction. The estimate for 2014 is $16,000. 
 
Parks Fees Parks Fund 
These miscellaneous fees are collected for locker rentals, pool rentals, concessions, etc.  The 
2014 revenues are estimated at $100,430. 
 
Interest Income All Funds 
The City will receive interest on cash balances through investment of public funds as allowed by 
law. The amount received will vary with interest rates, types and duration of investments, and 
the amount of cash available for investment during any particular budget year. The overall 2014 
estimate of $38,700 is based on annualized 2013 data, economic outlook, and the assumption 
that fund balances available for investing will be at 2013 levels. 

37 of 119



ATTACHMENT 2

38 of 119



39 of 119



40 of 119



41 of 119



42 of 119



43 of 119



44 of 119



45 of 119



46 of 119



47 of 119



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 3,507$           3,773$           3,800$               4,264$               5,020$               5,894$               6,799$               

REVENUES
   Sales Tax1 2,825$           2,946$           3,046$               3,168$               3,295$               3,426$               3,563$               
   Property Tax 2,320             2,427             2,500                 2,575                 2,652                 2,732                 2,814                 
   Utility Tax2 2,065             2,080             2,143                 2,207                 2,273                 2,341                 2,411                 
   Local Criminal Justice 365                365                380                    395                    411                    427                    444                    
   Licenses & Permits 38                  75                  75                      75                      75                      75                      75                      
   Intergovernmental Revenue 298                284                293                    302                    311                    320                    330                    
   Charges for Services 212                110                114                    117                    121                    124                    128                    
   Fines & Forfeitures 120                157                164                    173                    181                    190                    200                    
   Miscellaneous 67                  56                  58                      60                      62                      64                      65                      
   Interfund Payment 380                434                455                    478                    502                    527                    553                    

   Operating Transfer In3 60                  36                  36                      36                      36                      36                      36                      
   BASE BUDGET REVENUES 8,750             8,971             9,264                 9,585                 9,918                 10,263               10,620               

EXPENDITURES
   Salaries and Wages 1,359             1,408             1,464                 1,523                 1,584                 1,647                 1,713                 
   Personnel Benefits 492                502                540                    580                    624                    671                    721                    
   Supplies 59                  59                  61                      63                      65                      67                      69                      
   Other Services and Charges 1,658             1,329             1,369                 1,410                 1,452                 1,496                 1,541                 
   Intergovernmental 3,665             3,893             4,029                 4,170                 4,316                 4,468                 4,624                 
   Capital Outlay 55                  -                     -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
   Debt Service -                     -                     -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
   Interfund Payment for Services -                     -                     -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         
   Central Services Cost Allocation (416)               (441)               (463)                   (487)                   (511)                   (536)                   (563)                   
   Operating Transfer Out less debt service transfer4 667                647                673                    700                    728                    757                    787                    

   BASE BUDGET EXPENDITURES 7,539             7,397             7,673                 7,960                 8,258                 8,568                 8,891                 

Operating Surplus/Deficit by Year 1,211$           1,574$           1,591$               1,625$               1,660$               1,695$               1,729$               
OTHER FINANCING USES
Decision Cards -                     253                55                      56                      58                      60                      61                      
Budget Strategies -                     186                37                      28                      29                      30                      31                      
Debt Service Transfer 608                771                699                    701                    698                    699                    699                    

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING USES 608                1,209             790                    786                    785                    789                    792                    
Annual Surplus/Deficit 603$              365$              801$                  840$                  875$                  995$                  1,030$               

TOTAL USES 8,147$           8,606$           8,463$               8,746$               9,044$               9,358$               9,683$               

One-time Costco payout 337                337                337                    84                      -                         -                     -                     
Sources over Uses 266$              28$                464$                  756$                  875$                  905$                  937$                  

   TOTAL ENDING FUND BALANCE 3,773             3,800             4,264                 5,020$               5,894$               6,799$               7,737$               
10% fund balance target 687$              675$              700$                  726$                  753$                  835$                  867$                  
Fund balance policy Meets 10% Meets 10% Meets 10% Meets 10% Meets 10% Meets 10% Meets 10%
Margin above/below the 10% threshold 3,085$           3,125$           3,564$               4,293$               5,141$               5,965$               6,870$               

Notes: 

Footnotes:

 

1 Sales tax is allocated at 84% of forecasted revenues to the General Fund and 16% to the Parks Fund.  
2 This represents gross receipts for utility tax collections. Transfers are made to other funds. 

1) This worksheet makes no assumptions as to new programs and decision cards past 2013 other than ongoing costs.

CITY OF COVINGTON
GENERAL FUND LONG RANGE FORECAST

2013-2019 Analysis in 000s
BASE BUDGET

3 This transfer is from the LID Fund.
4 Operating transfers go to Streets, Parks, and Long-Term Debt.

 $-   

 $2.0  

 $4.0  

 $6.0  

 $8.0  

 $10.0  

 $12.0  

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

M
illi

on
s 

General Fund Operations 

All Other Revenues 

Utility Tax 

Property Tax 

Sales Tax 

Total Uses w/Decision 
Cards 

ATTACHMENT 3

48 of 119



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 417$           406$           331$           227$           100$          (49)$           (223)$         

REVENUES
  Licenses and Permits 257$           220$           226$           231$           237$          243$          249$          
  Street Fuel Tax 371             369             388             407             427            449            471            
  Intergovernmental Revenues -                  -                  -                  -                  -                 -                 -                 
  Charges for Goods and Services 14               6                 -                  -                  -                 -                 -                 
  Miscellaneous 1                 0                 0                 0                 0                0                0                

BASE BUDGET SUBTOTAL 643             596             614             639             665            692            721            
  Operating Transfers In 246             246             246             246             246            246            246            
  Insurance Recoveries -                  -                  -                  -                  -                 -                 -                 

TOTAL REVENUES 890             842             860             885             911            938            967            

EXPENDITURES
   Salaries and Wages 304             309             322             335             348            362            376            
   Personnel Benefits 115             120             129             139             149            161            173            
   Supplies 55               59               61               63               65              67              69              
   Other Services and Charges 331             324             340             357             375            394            414            
   Intergovernmental 93               101             106             111             116            122            128            
   Capital Outlay -                  -                  -                  -                  -                 -                 -                 
   Debt Service: Principal -                  -                  -                  -                  -                 -                 -                 
   Interfund Payment for Services -                  -                  -                  -                  -                 -                 -                 

Operating Transfer Out 2                 -                  -                  -                  -                 -                 -                 
BASE BUDGET SUBTOTAL 901             913             958             1,004          1,053         1,105         1,159         

  Decision Cards -                  37               7                 7                 7                7                8                
  Budget Strategies -                  (33)             -                  -                  -                 -                 -                 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 901             917             965             1,011          1,060         1,112         1,167         

Operating Surplus/Deficit by Year (11)$           (75)$           (105)$         (126)$         (149)$         (174)$         (200)$         

ENDING FUND BALANCE 406             331             227             100             (49)             (223)           (423)           
10% fund balance target 90$                 91$                 96$                 100$               105$              111$              116$              

Fund balance policy Meets 10% Meets 10% Meets 10% Under 10% Under 10% Under 10% Under 10%
Margin above/below the 10% threshold 317$               240$               131$               (0)$                  (155)$             (334)$             (539)$             

Notes: 
      1) This worksheet makes no assumptions as to new programs and decision cards past 2013 other than ongoing costs.

CITY OF COVINGTON
STREET FUND LONG RANGE FORECAST 

2013-2019 Analysis in 000s
BASE BUDGET

 $(0.6) 

 $(0.4) 

 $(0.2) 

 $-   

 $0.2  

 $0.4  

 $0.6  

 $0.8  

 $1.0  

 $1.2  

 $1.4  

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Th
ou

sa
nd

s 

Street Fund Operations 

Total 
Revenues 

Total 
Expenditures 
w/Decision 
Cards 

Ending Fund 
Balance 

49 of 119



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 2,016$       1,828$       

REVENUES
   Licenses & Permits 542$          325$          
   Intergovernmental Revenues -                 -                 
   Charges for Goods & Services 297            620            
   Miscellaneous Revenues 1                1                
   Operating Transfer In -                 -                 

TOTAL REVENUES1 840            946            

EXPENDITURES
   Salaries and Wages 504            442            
   Personnel Benefits 160            152            
   Supplies 4                8                
   Other Services and Charges 307            345            
   Intergovernmental 54              61              
   Other Financing -                 -                 
   Interfund Payment for Services -                 -                 

BASE EXPENDITURES 1,028         1,008         

Decision Cards -                 67              
 TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,028         1,075         

Operating Surplus/Deficit by Year (188)           (128)           -                 -                 -               -              
      Operating Transfer -                 -                 -                 -                 -               -              

1,828$       1,700$       -$           -$           -$         -$        
Fund balance target 126$                142$                -$                     -$                     -$                  -$                
Fund balance policy Meets 10% Meets 10% Meets 10% Meets 10% Meets 10% Meets 10%
Margin above/below the 10% threshold 1,702$             1,558$             -$                     -$                     -$                  -$                

Notes: 
1) This worksheet makes no assumptions as to new programs and decision cards past 2013 other than ongoing costs.

Footnotes: 
1 Reflects all revenues related to Development Review. 

CITY OF COVINGTON
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES FUND LONG RANGE FORECAST

2013-2019 Analysis in 000s
BASE BUDGET

Ending Fund Balance

 $-   

 $0.2  

 $0.4  

 $0.6  

 $0.8  

 $1.0  

 $1.2  

 $1.4  

 $1.6  

 $1.8  

 $2.0  

2013 2014 

Th
ou

sa
nd

s 

Development Services Fund Operations 

Total 
Revenues 

Ending Fund 
Balance 

Total 
Expenditures 
w/Decision 
Cards 

Due to the nature of 
Development Services being 
a working capital fund where 
projects cross years and the 
source of revenue is based 
solidly on economic cycles, 

accurate forecasting 
becomes speculative beyond 

2014.  

50 of 119



 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 322            257            293            235             151            37               (106)            

REVENUES
  Sales Tax1 538$          561$          580$          603$           628$           653$           679$           
  Intergovernmental Revenues 387            64              -                 -                  -                 -                  -                  
  Charges for Goods and Services -                 -                 -                 -                  -                 -                  -                  
  Aquatics Fees 622            543            545            547             548            550             552             
  Athletics & Recreation 30              46              48              49               50              52               53               
  Miscellaneous 36              36              37              38               40              41               42               
  Other Financing Sources -                 -                 -                 -                  -                 -                  -                  

   BASE BUDGET SUBTOTAL 1,614         1,251         1,210         1,237          1,266          1,295          1,326          
  Operating Transfers In 421            401            413            425             438            451             465             

TOTAL REVENUES 2,034         1,652         1,623         1,662          1,704          1,746          1,790          

EXPENDITURES
   Salaries and Wages 766            718            747            777             808            840             874             
   Personnel Benefits 261            206            222            238             256            276             296             
   Supplies 101            88              91              93               96              99               102             
   Other Services and Charges 864            572            589            606             625            643             663             
   Intergovernmental 4                4                4                4                 4                4                 4                 
   Capital Outlay 11              -                 -                 -                  -                 -                  -                  
   Operating Transfer 92              27              27              27               27              27               27               

   BASE BUDGET SUBTOTAL 2,099         1,616         1,680         1,747          1,817          1,890          1,967          
  Decision Cards -                 186            37              28               29              30               31               
  Budget Strategies -                 (186)           (37)             (28)              (29)             (30)              (31)              

     TOTAL EXPENDITURES 2,099         1,616         1,680         1,747          1,817          1,890          1,967          

Operating Surplus/Deficit by Year (65)             36              (57)             (85)              (113)           (144)            (176)            
ENDING FUND BALANCE 257            293            235            151             37              (106)            (283)            

10% fund balance target 210$          143$          164$          172$           179$           186$           194$           
Fund balance policy Meets 10% Meets 10% Meets 10% Under 10% Under 10% Under 10% Under 10%
Margin above/below the 10% threshold 47$            150$          71$            (21)$            (141)$         (292)$          (476)$          
Notes:

1) This worksheet makes no assumptions as to new programs and decision cards past 2013 other than ongoing costs.

Footnotes: 
1 Sales tax is allocated at 84% of forecasted revenues to the General Fund and 16% to 

  

CITY OF COVINGTON
PARKS & RECREATION SERVICES FUND LONG RANGE FORECAST

2013-2019 Analysis in 000s
BASE BUDGET

 $(0.5) 

 $-   

 $0.5  

 $1.0  

 $1.5  

 $2.0  

 $2.5  

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Th
ou

sa
nd

s 

Parks & Recreation Fund Operations 

Intergovernmental 
Revenue 

Transfer In 

Miscellaneous 

Aquatics Fees 

Sales Tax 

Total Expenditures 
w/Decision Cards 

Ending Fund Balance 

51 of 119



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 7,766$       7,738$       7,642$       7,513$       7,291$      6,971$      6,548$      

REVENUES
  Customer Charges1 1,733$       1,755$       1,755$       1,755$       1,755$      1,755$      1,755$      
  Intergovernmental Revenues 43              56              58              60              63             65             68             
  Grant Revenue 7                -                 -                 -                 -                -               -                
  Misc 4                10              10              10              10             11             11             

TOTAL REVENUES 1,787         1,820         1,823         1,825         1,828        1,831        1,834        
  Transfers In -                 -                 -                 -                 -                -               -                

TOTAL SOURCES 1,787         1,820         1,823         1,825         1,828        1,831        1,834        

EXPENDITURES
   Salaries and Wages 517            555            577            600            624           649           675           
   Personnel Benefits 200            212            228            245            264           283           305           
   Supplies 37              50              52              55              58             61             64             
   Other Services and Charges 825            932            978            1,027         1,078        1,132        1,189        
   Intergovernmental 139            53              55              58              61             64             67             
   Capital Outlay 26              -                 -                 -                 -                -               -                
   Debt Service: Principal -                 -                 -                 -                 -                -               -                
   Debt Service: Interest 33              33              31              31              31             31             31             
   Transfer Out 36              -                 -                 -                 -                -               -                

BASE BUDGET TOTAL 1,814         1,834         1,922         2,017         2,116        2,221        2,331        
  Decision Card -                 82              29              30              31             33             34             
  Budget Strategies -                 -                 -                 -                 -                -               -                

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 1,814         1,917         1,951         2,047         2,148        2,254        2,365        

Operating Surplus/Deficit by Year (28)             (97)             (129)           (222)           (320)          (423)         (531)          

ENDING FUND BALANCE 7,738         7,642         7,513         7,291         6,971        6,548        6,016        

10% fund balance target 175$               180$               189$               199$               209$               219$              230$              
Meets 10% Meets 10% Meets 10% Meets 10% Meets 10% Meets 10% Meets 10%

Margin above the 10% threshold 7,564$            7,461$            7,323$            7,092$            6,762$            6,329$          5,786$           

Notes:
1) This worksheet makes no assumptions as to new programs and decision cards past 2013 other than ongoing costs.

Footnotes: 

CITY OF COVINGTON
SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT FUND LONG RANGE FORECAST

2013-2019 Analysis in 000s
BASE BUDGET

1 This reflects ongoing 0% increases.  

 $-   

 $1.0  

 $2.0  

 $3.0  

 $4.0  

 $5.0  

 $6.0  

 $7.0  

 $8.0  

 $9.0  

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Th
ou

sa
nd

s 

SWM Fund Operations 

Total Revenues 

Total Expenditures 
w/Decision Cards 

Ending Fund 
Balance 

52 of 119



10/17/2013

2014 Levy Amount= 2,364,797$                                   

x1% 23,648                                          

Increase in utility value -                                                

Plus: New Construction 38,689                                          

Relevy for prior year refunds -                                                

2014 Property Tax Levy 2,427,134$                                   

Assessed Valuation 1,608,713,530$                            

2014 Estimated Levy Rate= 1.50874$                                      

Estimated Property Tax
2014

City of Covington

2013 2014 % change

Assessed Value 1,530,338,769.00$      1,608,713,530.00$   5.12%

Tax Levy 2,368,162.00$             2,427,133.97$          2.49%

Levy Rate 1.54748$                     1.50874$                  -2.50%

Home value 325,000.00$                341,644.55$             5.12%

Tax Assessment 502.93$                       515.45$                    2.49%

Home value Tax Amount
 $    325,000  =  $   490 

EXAMPLE

ATTACHMENT 4

53 of 119



Agenda Item 2 
   Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: October 22, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:    PUBLIC HEARING TO RECEIVE TESTIMONY REGARDING THE 

COVINGTON CITY COUNCIL’S PROPOSED ORDINANCE ADOPTING 
THE KENT SCHOOL DISTRICT SIX-YEAR CAPITAL FACILITIES PLAN 
FOR 2013-2019 AND 2014 KENT SCHOOL DISTRICT IMPACT FEE 
SCHEDULE. 

 
 CONSIDER PROPOSED ORDINANCE ADOPTING THE KENT SCHOOL 

DISTRICT SIX-YEAR CAPITAL FACILITIES PLAN FOR 2013-2019 AND 
2014 KENT SCHOOL DISTRICT IMPACT FEE SCHEDULE AND 
AMENDING THE CAPITAL FACILITIES ELEMENT OF THE COVINGTON 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN TO INCLUDE THE SAME. 

 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director 
                                                                                   
ATTACHMENT(S):   
 
 1. Proposed Ordinance Adopting the Kent School District Six-Year Capital Facilities Plan 

for 2013-2019 and the 2014 Kent School District Impact Fee Schedule and Amending the 
Capital Facilities Element of the Covington Comprehensive Plan to Include the Same. 

• Exhibit A: Kent School District Six-Year Capital Facilities Plan for 2013-2019 
• Exhibit B: 2014 Kent School District Impact Fee Schedule 

.  
PREPARED BY:  Richard Hart, Community Development Director  
                                                            
EXPLANATION:  
 
RCW 82.02 authorizes cities to collect impact fees to provide public school facilities to serve 
new development, provided a school district has an adopted capital facilities plan as part of a 
local government comprehensive plan.  CMC 18.120 grants authority to the city to assess and 
collect school impact fees based upon a school district’s capital facilities plan.  The Kent School 
District (“District”), serving the citizens of Covington, has a Six-Year Capital Facilities Plan 
(‘CFP”) that is incorporated by reference as a sub-element of the City of Covington’s 
Comprehensive Plan. 
 
The District has adopted an update to their CFP for 2013 – 2019. Based upon enrollment 
forecasts, current inventory and capacity, current standard of service, relocatable capacity, and 
costs for facilities and improvements, the District anticipates having sufficient capacity to house 
students over the next six years.  Accordingly, to continue to meet these projected enrollments 
and facility needs, the school impact fees are proposed to remain the same in 2014 as they were 
in 2011, 2012, and 2013.  Those fees are $5,486 for single-family dwellings and $3,378 for 
multi-family dwellings.  (See page 30 of the CFP in Exhibit A to Attachment 1, the table of 

54 of 119



proposed school impact fees and generation factors for new SF and MF residential development 
in the city beginning in 2014, showing “no change to impact fee”).   
 
Pursuant to CMC 18.120.020(2)-(3), the city must adopt the District’s updated CFP for 2013-
2019 by reference as part of the city’s Capital Facilities Element of our Comprehensive Plan to 
establish the fee program from which the 2014 Kent School District Impact Fee Schedule is 
adopted. Attachment 1 is the proposed ordinance to adopt both, including Exhibit A: Kent 
School District Six-Year Capital Facilities Plan for 2013-2019 and Exhibit B: 2014 Kent School 
District Impact Fee Schedule.  The city will continue to collect an administrative fee from 
developers for managing the school impact fee process.  The city’s administrative fee will be set 
in the annual City Fee Resolution for 2014 to be considered and adopted before the end of this 
year. 
 
ALTERNATIVES:  None 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  No impact, due to the lack of increase in the school impact fee or the city 
administrative fees for 2014.   
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:       X       Ordinance           Resolution  _____Motion           Other 
 

Council member _____________ moves, Council member ________________ 
seconds, to pass an ordinance adopting the updated Kent School District Six-
Year Capital Facilities Plan for 2013-2019 and the 2014 Kent School District 
Impact Fee Schedule and amending the Capital Facilities Element of the 
City’s Comprehensive Plan to include the same.  

 
REVIEWED BY:  City Manager 
                               City Attorney 
         City Finance Director  

55 of 119



Page 1 of 2 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 09-13 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF COVINGTON, KING COUNTY, WASHINGTON, 
ADOPTING THE KENT SCHOOL DISTRICT SIX-YEAR 
CAPITAL FACILITIES PLAN FOR 2013-2019 AND THE 2014 
KENT SCHOOL DISTRICT IMPACT FEE SCHEDULE; 
AMENDING THE CAPITAL FACILITIES ELEMENT OF 
THE COVINGTON COMPREHENSIVE PLAN TO INCLUDE 
THE SAME; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 
ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
 WHEREAS, the Washington State Legislature passed the Growth Management 
Act of 1990 and 1991, Chapter 36.70A RCW and Chapter 82.02 RCW (the “Act”), which 
authorizes the collection of impact fees on development activity to provide public school 
facilities to serve new development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Act requires that impact fees may only be collected for public 
facilities that are addressed by a capital facilities element of a comprehensive land use 
plan; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Kent School District (“District”) has prepared a capital facilities 

plan in compliance with the Act that has previously been adopted by the City of 
Covington (“City”) within the Capital Facilities Element of the City’s Comprehensive 
Plan; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City has adopted fee schedules in the past for the assessment and 

collection of school impact fees upon certain new residential developments on behalf of the 
District; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 18.120.020 of the Covington Municipal code (“CMC”) 

authorizes the City to adopt a district’s capital facilities plan by reference as part of the 
Capital Facilities Element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan and to adopt an impact fee 
schedule based upon the district’s capital facilities plan; and 

 
WHEREAS, the District has recently adopted an updated Six-Year Capital 

Facilities Plan for 2013-2019 (the “Plan”) and submitted their updated Plan to the City; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the Plan contains the elements required by Section 18.120 CMC; and 
 
WHEREAS, RCW 36.70A.130(2)(a)(iv) allows amendment of the capital 

facilities element of a comprehensive plan if done concurrently with the adoption or 
amendment of a city’s budget; and 

 
WHEREAS, upon providing appropriate public notice, the Covington City 

Council conducted a public hearing on October 22, 2013, to receive testimony regarding 
both the proposed 2014 City budget and the proposed amendment to the Capital Facilities 
Element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan; and 

ATTACHMENT 1

56 of 119



Page 2 of 2 
 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, KING 

COUNTY, WASHINGTON, DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. Adoption. The City hereby adopts the Kent School District Six-Year Capital Facilities 
Plan for 2013-2019, as set for in Exhibit A attached and incorporated herein by this reference. 
 
Section 2. Amendment. The City hereby amends the Capital Facilities Element of the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan to include the updated Kent School District Six-Year Capital Facilities Plan 
for 2013-2019, replacing the District’s previously adopted capital facilities plan.   
 
Section 2.  2014 Fee Schedule. The City hereby adopts the fee schedule setting forth the 
calculation and amounts of 2014 Kent School District impact fees to be collected pursuant to 
Section 18.120 CMC, as set forth in Exhibit B attached and incorporated by this reference. 
 
Section 3. Severability. If any provision of this ordinance, or ordinance modified by it, is 
determined to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions of this 
ordinance and ordinances and/or resolutions modified by it shall remain in force and effect. 
 
Section 4. Corrections. Upon approval of the city attorney, the city clerk and/or code reviser are 
authorized to make necessary corrections to this ordinance, including the correction of clerical 
errors; references to other local, state, or federal laws, codes, rules, or regulations; or ordinance 
numbering and section/subsection numbering. 
 
Section 5. Effective Date. This ordinance shall be in full force and effect five (5) days after 
proper posting and publication.  A summary of this ordinance may be published in lieu of 
publishing the ordinance in its entirety. 
 
PASSED by the City Council of the City of Covington on the 22nd day of October, 2013. 

 

_______________________                                             
Mayor Margaret Harto 

     
ATTESTED: PUBLISHED:  10-25-13                          

EFFECTIVE:   10-30-13                          
_________________________ 
Sharon Scott, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_________________________ 
Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 

57 of 119



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013 – 2014     -     2018 – 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
           
 
 

April  2013 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A

58 of 119



Kent School District Six-Year Capital Facilities Plan              April  2013 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

SIX - YEAR  CAPITAL  FACILITIES  PLAN 
 

2013 - 2014   ~   2018 - 2019 
 

April  2013 
 

Kent School District No. 415 
12033 SE 256th Street 

Kent, Washington  98030-6643 
(253) 373-7295 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

BOARD  of  DIRECTORS 
 

Ms. Debbie Straus, President 
Mr. Tim Clark, Vice President 

Ms. Agda Burchard, Legislative Representative 
Ms. Karen DeBruler, Director 
Mr. Russ Hanscom, Director 

 
 
 
 

ADMINISTRATION 
 
 

Dr. Edward Lee Vargas 
Superintendent of Schools 

 
Dr. Richard A. Stedry, Chief Business Officer 

Ralph Fortunato, CSBS, Director of Fiscal Services 
Fred Long, Director of Facilities Services 

Gwenn Escher-Derdowski, Planning Administrator 
 

59 of 119



Kent School District Six-Year Capital Facilities Plan              April  2013 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Six-Year Capital Facilities Plan 
 

Table of Contents 
 

 
Section 

 

  
Page Number 

 

I 

 

 
Executive Summary 

 

2 

 

I I 

 

 

Six-Year Enrollment Projection & History 
 

4 

 

I I I 

 

 

District Standard of Service 
 

8 

 

I V 

 

 

Inventory, Capacity & Maps of Existing Schools 
 

11 

 

V 

 

 

Six-Year Planning & Construction Plan – Site Map 
 

14 

 

V I 

 

 
Relocatable Classrooms 

 

17 

 

V I I 

 

 

Projected Classroom Capacity 

 

18 

 

V I I I 

 

 
Finance Plan, Cost Basis and Impact Fee Schedules 

 

23 

 

I X 

 

 

Summary of Changes to Previous Plan 
 

30 

 

X 

 

 

Appendixes 
 

31 

 

60 of 119



61 of 119



62 of 119



63 of 119



64 of 119



65 of 119



66 of 119



67 of 119



68 of 119



69 of 119



70 of 119



71 of 119



NK
ent School D

istrict Six-Year C
apital Facilities Plan

A
pril 2013             Page 13

Kent School District No. 415
Serving residents of

Unincorporated King County
City of Kent

City of Renton
City of Auburn

City of Sea Tac
City of Covington

City of Maple Valley
City of Black Diamond

28 Elementary Schools
  6 Middle Schools
  4 Senior High Schools
 Kent Mountain View Academy (Grades 3-12)
     Kent Phoenix Academy (9-12)

Mill Creek
Middle School

Kent-Meridian
High School

   Carriage Crest
Elementary

Glenridge
ElementarySpringbrook

Elementary

Emerald Park
Elementary

Soos Creek
Elementary Sunrise

Elementary

Kentridge 
High School

Lake 
Youngs
Elementary

Ridgewood
Elementary

Fairwood
Elementary

Lake 
Desire

Lake 
Youngs

Park Orchard
Elementary

Panther Lake
Elementary

East Hill
Elementary

Daniel
Elementary

Martin
Sortun
Elementary

Scenic Hill
Elementary

Millennium
Elementary

Administration
Center

Kent Phoenix
Academy 

Meridian
Middle School

Meridian
Elementary

Lake 
Meridian

Meadow Ridge
Elementary Pine Tree

Elementary

Horizon
Elementary

Covington
Elementary

Jenkins
Creek

Elementary

Cedar Valley
Elementary

Crestwood
Elementary

Mattson
Middle School

Kentlake
High School

Kentwood
High School

Sawyer Woods
Elementary

Lake
Sawyer

Lake
Morton

Pipe Lake

Grass Lake
Elementary

Cedar Heights
Middle School

Kent
Elementary

Neely O'Brien
Elementary

Meeker 
Middle School

Northwood
Middle School

SE Petrovitsky Rd

SE 256th St

SE 240th St
SE 240th St

Kent-Black Diam
ond Rd

S 212th St

SE 272nd St

Kent-Kangley Road

Hig
hway 18

Hig
hway 18

13
2n

d
 A

ve
 S

E
13

2n
d

 A
ve

 S
E

16
4t

h
 A

ve
 S

E

10
4t

h
 A

ve
 S

E

10
8t

h
 A

ve
 S

E

C
e

n
tr

a
l A

ve

W
e

st
 V

a
lle

y
 H

ig
h

w
a

y

Hig
hw

ay 
16

7

14
0t

h
 A

ve
 S

E

In
te

rs
ta

te
 5

SE 208th St

K
e

nt-D

es M
oines Rd

SE  Covington-Sawyer Rd.

Kent
Mountain View
Academy

72 of 119



73 of 119



74 of 119



1

2

4
6

11

12

10
9

13

5

N

3

7

8

SE 192nd St

   Carriage Crest
Elementary

Glenridge
ElementarySpringbrook

Elementary

Emerald Park
Elementary

Soos Creek
Elementary

Sunrise
Elementary

Kentridge 
High School

Lake Youngs
Elementary

Ridgewood
Elementary

Fairwood
Elementary

Lake 
Desire

Lake Youngs

Park Orchard
Elementary

Panther Lake
Elementary

Panther Lake
Replacement

East Hill
Elementary

Daniel
Elementary

Martin
Sortun
Elementary

Scenic Hill
Elementary

Millennium
Elementary

Administration
Center

Kent Phoenix
Academy

Meridian
Middle School

Meridian
Elementary

Lake Meridian

Meadow Ridge
Elementary

Pine Tree
Elementary

Horizon
Elementary

Covington
Elementary

Jenkins
Creek

Elementary

Cedar Valley
Elementary

Crestwood
Elementary

Mattson
Middle School

Kentlake
High School

Kentwood
High School

Sawyer Woods
Elementary

Lake
Sawyer

Lake
Morton

Pipe Lake

Grass Lake
Elementary

Cedar Heights
Middle School

Kent
Elementary

Neely O'Brien
Elementary

Mill Creek
Middle School

Kent-
Meridian

High
School

Kent
Mountain View
Academy

     Meeker 
Middle School

Northwood
Middle School

SE Petrovitsky Rd

SE 256th St

SE 240th StSE 240th St

Kent-Bla
ck D

ia
m

o
nd

 Rd

SE 288th Street

S 212th St

SE 304th Street

SE 272 nd St

Kent-Kangley Road

SE 336th St

Hig
hw

ay 1
8

1
3

2
n

d
 A

v
e

 S
E

1
3

2
n

d
 A

v
e

 S
E

1
6

4
th

 A
v

e
 S

E

1
0

4
th

 A
v

e
 S

E

1
0

8
th

 A
v

e
 S

E

C
e

n
tr

a
l A

v
e

W
e

st
 V

a
lle

y
 H

ig
h

w
a

y

Hig
hw

ay 
16

7

1
4

0
th

 A
v

e
 S

E

In
te

rs
ta

te
 5

SE 208th St

Kent School District No. 415
Site Bank

&
Property Acquisitions 

K
e

n
t-D

es Moines Rd 

SE Covington-Sawyer Rd. 

K
ent School D

istrict Six-Year C
apital Facilities Plan

A
pril 2013            Page 16

75 of 119



76 of 119



77 of 119



78 of 119



79 of 119



80 of 119



81 of 119



82 of 119



83 of 119



84 of 119



85 of 119



86 of 119



87 of 119



88 of 119



89 of 119



90 of 119



91 of 119



92 of 119



93 of 119



94 of 119



EXHIBIT B 
TO 

ORDINANCE NO. 09-13 
 
 

2014 KENT SCHOOL DISTRICT IMPACT FEE SCHEDULE 
 
 
 
 

Single-family, per dwelling unit    $5,486.00 
 
Multi-family, per dwelling unit    $3,378.00 

 
 

EXHIBIT B

95 of 119



 
 

Agenda Item 3 
 Covington City Council Meeting 
 Date: October 22, 2013 

 
SUBJECT:  DISCUSS PROPOSED INTERIM ZONING REGULATIONS FOR 

RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA PRODUCTION, PROCESSING, AND RETAIL 
USES.  

 
RECOMMENDED BY: Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 Richard Hart, Community Development Director  
 
ATTACHMENT(S): 
 

1. Proposed ordinance establishing interim zoning regulations for recreational marijuana 
production, processing, and retail uses. 

2. Map demonstrating 1000 ft separation requirement of recreational marijuana facilities 
from sensitive uses as required by I-502. 

 
PREPARED BY:  Sara Springer, City Attorney 
 
EXPLANATION: 
 
Initiative 502, passed last November and codified in Chapter 69.50 of the Revised Code of 
Washington (RCW), legalized the possession and private recreational use of marijuana for adults 
21 years of age and older.  
 
The law calls for the Washington State Liquor Control Board (LCB) to establish a regulatory 
system for licensing producers, processors, and retailers of recreational marijuana. The LCB 
anticipates such regulations to become effective November 16, 2013. The LCB will then accept 
licensing applications for marijuana producers, processors, and retailers for thirty days beginning 
November 18, 2013.  
 
The LCB’s draft rules create a highly regulated system. The rules do not allow licensees to locate 
within 1,000 ft of numerous sensitive uses (Attachment 2 included herein is a zoning map with 
an overlay of said buffer requirements, to be referenced for illustrative purposes only). The LCB 
will verify that an applicant’s location meets these buffer requirements and will deny an 
application if the requirement is not met. Applications will also be denied if the applicant (or its 
financiers) does not meet age, residency, and criminal history requirements. The LCB will also 
not issue licenses to applicants that fail to submit operating plans detailing the planned marijuana 
activities, compliance with security measures, traceability requirements, employee qualifications 
and training, and the proper destruction of waste products. The rules also require licensees to 
follow operational guidelines preventing minors from obtaining marijuana (or entering the 
establishment), restrict advertising, require labeling (including warnings about the use of 
marijuana), and limiting the hours of operation for retailers. 
 

96 of 119



 
 

State law and the LCB rules recognize cities’ and counties’ authority to adopt local regulations 
relating to recreational marijuana production, processing, and retail uses. The LCB has made it 
clear that it will not consider local regulations in deciding to issue a recreational marijuana 
license and, conversely, will not revoke a license for failure to comply with local regulations. 
However, the LCB has also made it clear that state licenses will be issued with the caveat that 
said license does not guarantee the licensee a right to operate their business as licensed. 
Essentially, the LCB views the interplay between licensees and local governments as a land use 
action outside the scope of the LCB’s licensing jurisdiction.  
 
Accordingly, as the Covington Municipal Code does not currently have specific provisions 
addressing recreational marijuana production, processing, or retailing uses, those uses must be 
addressed in the city’s zoning code to prevent such uses to locate in the city without regulation. 
As the land use and secondary impacts of these uses are still largely unknown and the full extent 
of the regulations needed to address them are uncertain pending the LCB’s adoption and 
implementation of its licensing regulations and procedures, staff recommends for the city to 
adopt interim zoning regulations to limit recreational marijuana uses to certain areas of the city, 
expand the sensitive uses buffer, and provide for other basic enforcement regulations. Interim 
zoning regulations may be initially established for a six-month period and then may be extended 
in additional six-month increments as needed. The council may repeal and replace interim zoning 
regulations with permanent zoning regulations at any time. 
 
A draft ordinance containing the proposed interim zoning regulations for council’s review and 
consideration is attached (Attachment 1). This limited start will allow the city time to understand 
the potential impacts of recreational marijuana uses and will also provide potential applicants an 
indication of areas in which they may ultimately be allowed to operate. As demonstrated by the 
map in Attachment 2, the minimum state separation requirements greatly limit the eligible areas 
within the city for location of recreational marijuana facilities (the map does not currently take 
into account the additional separation requirements as proposed in the city’s interim zoning 
regulations). Accordingly, staff recommends for recreational marijuana production and 
processing facilities to be allowed only in the Industrial (I) zone and for recreational marijuana 
retail uses to be allowed only in the General Commercial (GC) and Mixed Commercial (MC) 
zones.   
 
Upon the adoption of interim regulations, city staff will continue to monitor the ever evolving 
legal and policy considerations surrounding marijuana to inform the development of a work plan 
for the adoption of permanent recreational marijuana regulations.   
 
Coordination with Medical Marijuana Regulations 
I-502 makes no mention of medical marijuana and the state’s medical marijuana laws remain 
unchanged—medical marijuana dispensaries will not automatically become retail marijuana 
stores and collective gardens will not automatically become production facilities.  
 
Notably, on August 29, 2013, the Department of Justice (DOJ) issued a memorandum (the “Cole 
Memo”) indicating that the DOJ would essentially allow states to proceed with implementing 
their state laws legalizing marijuana use for recreational or medical uses so long as the state also 
implements a regulatory and enforcement system that addresses concerns of public safety, public 

97 of 119



 
 

health, and other law enforcement concerns. The memo further outlined federal prosecutorial 
priorities as preventing marijuana distribution to minors, revenue reaching criminal enterprises, 
diversion to other states, state-licensed activities acting as a cover for other illegal activity, 
violence and use of firearms, driving under the influence, growing marijuana on public lands, 
and possession or use on federal property. 
 
The Cole Memo, signaling to states that as long as a robust regulatory and enforcement system is 
implemented the DOJ will not actively prosecute legalized state marijuana uses, is notable when 
considering the future of the state’s regulation of medical marijuana. Currently there is no state 
regulatory system for medical marijuana use. The state legislature has requested that the LCB 
submit recommendations for a potential medical marijuana regulatory scheme by January 2014. 
The LCB, AWC’s lobbyists, and the City of Seattle all anticipate that the state legislature will 
adopt some sort of regulatory system for medical marijuana in the next legislative session (if not 
simply include medical marijuana under the recreational marijuana regulatory system). Either 
way, prevailing wisdom strongly indicates that the state legislature will make significant changes 
to state medical marijuana regulations in their next legislative session to conform to DOJ’s new 
marijuana policy as set forth in the Cole Memo.  
 
Accordingly, staff recommends for the city to maintain its current moratorium on medical 
marijuana facilities and collective gardens until such new regulations are addressed by the state 
legislature in their next session. Though staff previously indicated an intention to present interim 
zoning regulations for medical marijuana uses in conjunction with recreational marijuana, given 
the above, doing so would not be an efficient use of staff time and could allow for the 
establishment of eventually non-conforming uses that the city would need to amortize out over 
time (a consequence that is not favored and should be avoided if possible). Given the near 
certainty of change to the state medical marijuana regulatory landscape this spring, staff 
recommends maintaining the city’s moratorium until a new state regulatory scheme is 
implemented. 
 
ALTERNATIVES: 

1. Provide alternate direction to staff. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Staff time 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION:         Ordinance         Resolution     _   Motion     _   Other 

 
None at this time – discussion item only. 
 

REVIEWED BY: City Manager; City Attorney; Community Development Director  

98 of 119



 
 

ORDINANCE NO. XX-13 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
COVINGTON, WASHINGTON, RELATING TO 
RECREATIONAL MARIJUANA; ESTABLISHING INTERIM 
ZONING REGULATIONS FOR RECREATIONAL 
MARIJUANA PRODUCTION, PROCESSING, AND RETAIL 
USES; ADOPTING FINDINGS OF FACT; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; DECLARING AN EMERGENCY; AND 
ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, Initiative 502, passed by Washington voters on November 6, 2012, and 

codified in Chapter 69.50 of the Revised Code of Washington (RCW), modified the State 
Controlled Substances Act to allow the possession of recreational marijuana for private, personal 
use and established a system for lawful production, processing, and retailing of recreational 
marijuana under state law; and 

 
WHEREAS, Initiative 502 directs the Washington State Liquor Control Board (LCB) to 

develop rules and regulations related to the licensing and location of recreational marijuana 
production, processing, and retailing uses as allowed under the Initiative; and 

 
WHEREAS, while the production, processing, and retailing of marijuana remains in 

violation of the federal Controlled Substances Act (CSA), the City Council wishes to 
acknowledge the will of Washington voters and the authority exercised by the state of 
Washington and the LCB to license such facilities, leaving all issues relating to the legality, 
licensing, siting, and permitting of such facilities to be determined by the federal and state 
governments in the exercise of their lawful authority; and 

 
WHEREAS, the LCB is expected to adopt new regulations on recreational marijuana 

production, processing, and retail uses to become effective on November 16, 2013, and will 
accept applications for licenses for marijuana production, processing, and retailing for thirty days 
thereafter; and 

 
WHEREAS, the LCB will not consider local zoning regulations in deciding whether to 

issue licenses for marijuana producers, processors, and retailers, but those businesses are 
required to comply with local zoning regulations and controls; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Covington Municipal Code does not currently have specific provisions 

addressing marijuana producing, processing, or retailing uses; and 
 
WHEREAS, marijuana production, processing, and retailing uses must be addressed in 

the City’s zoning code, but the land use and secondary impacts of these uses are still largely 
unknown and the regulations that the City will need to address them are uncertain pending the 
LCB’s adoption and implementation of its licensing regulations and procedures; and 

 

ATTACHMENT 1

99 of 119



 
 

WHEREAS, unless the City acts immediately to address recreational marijuana-related 
uses, such uses may be able to locate in the City without regulation and thereby have adverse 
impacts on the City and its citizens; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City deems it in the public interest to impose interim zoning regulations 

for a period of six-months in order to investigate this issue further and obtain regulatory clarity 
and guidance from the LCB’s rules and licensing implementation; and 

 
WHEREAS, RCW 35A.63.220 and RCW 36.70A.390 authorize the City to adopt interim 

land use regulations and official controls, and the Covington City Council deems it to be in the 
public interest to adopt the regulations set forth in this ordinance under this authority; and 

 
WHEREAS, a public hearing was held on the regulations set forth in this ordinance on 

November 12, 2013, and the Council has weighed the testimony received; and 
 
WHEREAS, nothing in this ordinance is intended nor shall be construed to authorize or 

approve of any violation of federal or state law; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, 
WASHINGTON, DOES HEREBY ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. Findings of Fact. In accordance with RCW 35A.63.220 and RCW 36.70A.390, 
which require the City Council to adopt findings of fact justifying the adoption of interim zoning 
regulations, the “WHEREAS” clauses set forth above are hereby adopted as the City Council’s 
findings of fact in support of the interim zoning regulations imposed by this ordinance. The City 
Council may adopt additional findings in the event that additional evidence is presented to the 
City Council.   

 
Section 2. Interim Regulations Established. Notwithstanding the existing provisions of 

the Covington Municipal Code, the City hereby establishes the following interim zoning 
regulations for the establishment of recreational marijuana production, processing, and retailing 
uses, as defined herein, subject to the following, and are the sole means of establishing 
recreational marijuana production, processing, and retailing uses within the City:  

 
 

Chapter 18.XX Marijuana-Related Uses 
 

18.XX.010 Definitions. 
Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, the terms “marijuana producer”, “marijuana 
processor”, and “marijuana retailer” shall have the meanings established pursuant to RCW 
69.50.101. 

 
18.XX.020 Marijuana-related Uses. 
(1) The production, processing, and retailing of recreational marijuana is and remains illegal  
under federal law. Nothing in this chapter is an authorization to circumvent federal law or 
provide permission to any person or entity to violate federal law. 

100 of 119



 
 

 
(2) The purpose of the provisions in this chapter is solely to acknowledge the enactment  
by Washington voters of Initiative 502 and a state licensing procedure and to permit to, but 
only to, the extent required by state law recreational marijuana producers, processors, and 
retailers to operate in designated zones of the City.  

 
(3) Only state-licensed marijuana producers, marijuana processors, and marijuana retailers  
may locate in the City and then only pursuant to the license issued by the State of 
Washington.  
 
(4) Marijuana producers, marijuana processors, and marijuana retailers are required to 
acquire all necessary business licenses, permits, and comply with all other applicable City 
ordinances and regulations. 

 
18.XX.030 Marijuana Producers and Processors. 
State-licensed marijuana producers and marijuana processors may only locate in the City  
pursuant to the following restrictions: 

 
(1) Marijuana producers and marijuana processors must comply with all requirements of 
state law and the Washington State Liquor Control Board’s regulations; 

 
(2) Marijuana producers and marijuana processors may locate only in the Industrial (I) zone; 

 
(3) Marijuana producers and marijuana processors shall not operate as an accessory to a 
primary use or as a home occupation; 

 
(4) All marijuana production and processing activities shall occur within an enclosed 
structure and the facility shall be designed, located, constructed, and buffered to blend in 
with its surroundings and mitigate significant adverse impacts on adjoining properties and the 
community, and special attention shall be given to minimizing odor, noise, light, glare, and 
traffic impacts; and 

 
(5) Marijuana producers and processors shall not locate within one thousand feet (1,000 ft) of 
a public or private school with curricula equivalent to elementary, junior, or senior high 
schools, or any facility owned or operated by such school; care center, preschool, nursery 
school, or other childcare facility; public park, trail, playground, or recreational facility; 
church, temple, synagogue, or chapel; public transit center; public library; or any game 
arcade admission to which is not restricted to persons aged twenty-one (21) years or older. 
The one thousand foot buffer shall be measured by following a straight line from the nearest 
point of the property parcel upon which the proposed use is to be located to the nearest point 
of the parcel of property from which the proposed land use is to be separated.   

 
18.XX.040 Marijuana Retailers. 
State-licensed marijuana retailers may locate in the City pursuant to the following 
restrictions: 
 

101 of 119



 
 

(1) Marijuana retailers must comply with all requirements of state law and the Washington 
State Liquor Control Board’s regulations; 
 
(2) Marijuana retailers may locate only in the General Commercial (GC) and Mixed 
Commercial (MC) zones; 

 
(3) Marijuana retailers shall not operate as an accessory to a primary use or as a home 
occupation; and 

 
(4) Marijuana retailers shall not locate within one thousand feet (1,000 ft) of a public or 
private school with curricula equivalent to elementary, junior, or senior high schools, or any 
facility owned or operated by such school; care center, preschool, nursery school, or other 
childcare facility; public park, trail, playground, or recreational facility; church, temple, 
synagogue, or chapel; public transit center; public library; or any game arcade admission to 
which is not restricted to persons aged twenty-one (21) years or older. The one thousand foot 
buffer shall be measured by following a straight line from the nearest point of the property 
parcel upon which the proposed use is to be located to the nearest point of the parcel of 
property from which the proposed land use is to be separated. 

 
18.XX.050 Enforcement - Penalty. 
(1) Any violation of this chapter is declared to be a public nuisance per se and, in addition to 
any other remedy provided by law or equity, may be abated by the City under applicable 
provisions of this code or state law. 

 
(2) No person or entity may violate or fail to comply with any provision of this chapter. Each 
person or entity commits a separate offense for each and every day they commit, continue, or 
permit a violation of any provision of this ordinance. 

 
Section 3. No Non-Confirming Uses. No use that constitutes or purports to be a 

marijuana producer, marijuana processor, or marijuana retailer as those terms are defined in this 
ordinance, that was engaged in that activity prior to the enactment of this ordinance shall be 
deemed to have been a legally established use under the provisions of the Covington Municipal 
Code and that use shall not be entitled to claim legal non-confirming use status.  

 
Section 4. Work Plan. City staff is hereby directed to implement the following work plan 

during the interim period. Staff is directed to review existing laws and regulations applicable to 
recreational uses of marijuana and to monitor the pending dispute between state and federal law 
enforcement authorities regarding the legality of recreational marijuana use under state and 
federal law. In addition, staff is hereby directed to monitor land use, zoning, and other applicable 
City regulations and to consider potential amendments to such regulations after studying the 
potential impacts of recreational marijuana uses on the City’s health, safety, welfare, and peace. 
Staff is encouraged to review and consider the experiences of other jurisdictions dealing with 
similar situations.  

 
Section 5. Conflict. In the event there is a conflict between the provisions of this 

ordinance and any other City ordinance, the provisions of this ordinance shall control. 

102 of 119



 
 

 
Section 6. Severability. Should any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this 

ordinance, or its application to any person or circumstance, be declared unconstitutional or 
otherwise invalid for any reason, or should any portion of this ordinance be pre-empted by state 
or federal law or regulation, such decision or preemption shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this ordinance or its application to other persons or circumstances. 

 
Section 7. Corrections. Upon the approval of the City Attorney, the City Clerk is 

authorized to make any necessary corrections to this ordinance including, but not limited to, the 
correction of scrivener’s/clerical errors, references, ordinance numbering, section/subsection 
numbers, and any reference thereto.  

 
Section 8. Declaration of Emergency - Effective Date. The Covington City Council 

declares that an emergency exists necessitating that this ordinance become effective immediately 
for the protection of the public health and safety, public peace, and public property. This 
ordinance shall take effect immediately upon passage. 

 
ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF COVINGTON, 

WASHINGTON, at a regular meeting thereof this 12th day of November, 2013.  
 

      

Mayor Margaret Harto 

EFFECTIVE:   November 12, 2013 

PUBLISHED:  November 15, 2013 

ATTESTED: 

 

      

Sharon Scott 
City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

      

Sara Springer 
City Attorney 

103 of 119



I

M

R-6

R-4

R-8

TC

MC

GC

.

1 inch = 2,000 feetCity of Covington: Zoning Information

Created By: Shawn Buck 10/11/2013

Community Commercial

General Commercial

High Density Residential 8du/ac

Industrial

Low Density Residential 4du/ac

Med Density Residential 6du/ac

Mineral

Mixed Commercial

Neighborhood Commercial

Urban Seperator

City Limits

Downtown Boundary

Multifamily Residential 18du/ac ~18 Acres

Mixed Housing/Office ~60 Acres

Town Center ~73 Acres

O:\Covington_GIS_Library\PROJECT_FOLDER\Community_Development\One_Time_Use_Projects\2013\I-502_Map\i_502_map.mxd

I-502 Buffer Information
1000' Buffer

Local Schools

Covington Parks

Park and Ride

Library

Child Care Facility

ATTACHMENT 2

104 of 119



 

Agenda Item 4 
Covington City Council Meeting 

Date:  October 22, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:  DISCUSS RESULTS OF SALARY SURVEY. 
 
RECOMMENDED BY:  Derek Matheson, City Manager 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   

1. City of Covington 2013 Salary Survey Results 
 
PREPARED BY:  Noreen Beaufrere, Personnel Manager 
 
EXPLANATION: 
 
Executive Summary: 
A salary survey of 42 staff positions and 2 council positions was completed in-house by 
Personnel Manager Noreen Beaufrere in order to save the cost of a consultant completing this 
project ($22,100 was charged for the last survey completed by a consultant in 2008).  Twenty 
(20) cities, in total, were researched to make at least three acceptable matches for each position, 
starting first with the 7 cities called out as the basic comparable cities in the city’s Compensation 
Program Procedure No. HR-16.1, then moving on to the 6 alternate cities called out in the same 
procedure; and, ultimately, utilizing an additional 7 cities in the region in order to ensure the 
appropriate number of substantial matches were made for each position.  In just one case were 
only two matches made for a position. 
 
Four (4) staff positions were found to require salary range adjustments of one, two, or three 6% 
salary ranges.  If that action is taken, incumbents in three of the positions would receive 
additional step raises on a normal step raise schedule in the coming years until the top step of 
their new salary range is reached.  The fourth incumbent would require three (3) salary 
adjustments (two at 4% and one at 3.8%) starting in January 2014 and spaced 6 months apart to 
bring them up to the first step of the newly assigned salary range, followed by normal annual 
step increases thereafter until the top step of the range was reached.  These findings were not 
unexpected, since three of the positions are in the robust fields of technology and/or engineering, 
and also because the level of responsibilities in the affected positions have significantly 
increased. 
 
Eliminating the above-noted four positions from consideration, the average deviation for the 
remaining 38 staff positions was only +1.78%.  Reasons for six (6) individual deviations that 
were higher than the +/- 5% are addressed later in this document in “Survey Results” section 
addressing staff positions.   
 
Both council positions (mayor and councilmember) were found to be extremely below the 
comparable market (-61% and -31.5%, respectively).  This was due largely to the facts that those 
positions had not been surveyed since 1999 and Cost-of-Living Adjustments (COLAs) had not 
been applied in all those years in the way COLAs had been applied to staff positions.  If COLAs 
had been applied, the compensation rates would have stayed on par with the comparable market. 
 

105 of 119



 

Final recommendations for staff include placing the four positions needing salary range 
adjustments in the appropriate range, bringing the one position that is below the first step of the 
new range up to that first step through three salary adjustments occurring 6 months apart, and 
executing normal step increases annually for all four positions until the top step of each range is 
reached over the course of time.  Two of the four positions were also recommended for a 
position title change. 
 
Final recommendations for the two city council positions, as soon as the city council sees fit to 
address their compensation issues, include bringing the compensation rates up to par with the 
comparable market and applying future COLAs to council compensation rates in the same way 
COLAs are applied to staff compensation rates.  The effective date of such action for the council 
positions, however, is governed by the Washington State constitution and described in further 
detail on the last page of this agenda sheet in           “II - Recommendations for City Council 
Positions.” 
 
Background: 
The city’s Employee Compensation Program Procedure, HR-16.1, adopted per Resolution 12-09 
on September 11, 2012, states: 
 

“The City of Covington prides itself in maintaining a diligent, caring staff 
consistently striving to provide its citizens with the highest level of 
personalized service, delivered as promptly as resources allow.  In order to 
attract, engage and retain the necessary talent and knowledge to provide 
this quality service, the city’s unique total rewards package combines 
competitive wages, sound insurance plans, and performance incentives 
with a variety of intangible benefits that adapt to economic and societal 
trends, as well as afford individual flexibility.  To further promote 
continuity of service, emerging leaders and longevity are valued—we 
believe in growing our talent.” 

 
Further, the same procedure calls out specific guidelines for conducting salary surveys, including 
what comparable market to use, the frequency and timing of surveys, scheduling of positions to 
be surveyed and who has the responsibility for conducting the salary survey.   
 
Section 2.B.1- “Frequency and Timing of Surveys” of the same procedure states, “surveys are 
targeted to be performed every five (5) years and completed by July 31st, or in time for results to 
be considered for inclusion in the annual budget process.”  The last survey was completed in 
2008 by an outside consultant at a cost of $22,100. The latest survey, however, was completed by 
Personnel Manager Noreen Beaufrere, thus saving the city significant consultant costs.   
 
In a September 2013, the personnel manager participated in a webinar entitled, “2013-2014 
Compensation Trends,” presented by Compensation Works founder and owner Catherine Dovey 
CCP, SPHR, GRP, CECP. Ms. Dovey stated that the Seattle-Tacoma-Bellevue metropolitan area 
has a very strong economy, despite past economic challenges, and currently ranks No. 5 out of 
366 metropolitan areas nationwide.  Thus, it remains critical to ensure staff is fairly compensated 
if we wish to retain our talented and experienced workforce.   
 
Survey Process Overview: 
Positions surveyed:   44 active positions, including the mayor and councilmember positions.  
 

106 of 119



 

Target: substantial matches per position (more were made for many positions while only 
two matches could be made for one).   

 
Total Cities Researched:  20, made up of the following: 
 

− 7 “Comparable Cities” defined by the Compensation Program Procedure as Bonney 
Lake,  Issaquah, Maple Valley, Mill Creek, Mountlake Terrace, University Place and 
Woodinville; 

− 6 “Alternate Cities” defined in the Compensation Program Procedure include Des 
Moines, Federal Way, Enumclaw, Fife, Kenmore and Tumwater; 

− 3 additional cities needed to make matches included Kent, Shoreline and Olympia; and 
− 4 additional cities researched, but from which no viable matches were made included 

Burien, Bothell, Renton and Port Angeles. 
 

Survey Results: 
Comparisons of Covington’s positions against those of comparable cities may be seen on Exhibit 
1,  
City of Covington 2013 Salary Survey Results.”  A deviation of +/- 5% when comparing the top 
step of Covington salary ranges to the comparable cities’ average top step is considered a 
“normal” or “expected” deviation.  Therefore, only those positions deviating at least a full salary 
range (6%) or more from the average of the comparable cities were recommended for placement 
at higher salary ranges.  
 
I.  Staff Position Results 
 

 Positions With a Top Step of Salary Range Falling ≥6% Below Average of Comparable 
Cities - Four positions met the guidelines for placement in higher salary ranges and all 
happened to be in the Public Works Department:  Senior Information Systems 
Administrator, Engineering Technician II/SWM, Engineering Technician I/GIS, and Public 
Works Programs Supervisor.  This is not surprising, considering technology-related 
positions (Information Systems and GIS included) are currently at a premium nationwide, 
while the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Stormwater Program 
requires increased knowledge and expertise in the field of surface water management. 

 
 Average Deviation of Top Steps Compared to Comparables’ Averages for Remaining 

Staff Positions - Of the remaining 38 staff positions (not including, therefore, city council 
positions), the average deviation between top steps was only +1.78%.  This indicates that, 
overall, Covington is very much on par with the comparable market, although individual 
positions may demonstrate a greater deviation in either direction.   

 
        Reasons for Top Steps of Six Positions Falling ≥6% Above Average Top Steps of 

Comparable Cities:  
−   City Manager – The previous salary survey utilized a comparable city pool that was 

revised for the 2013 survey, thus eliminating cities such as Sammamish, Bothell, Kent 
and Puyallup due to city size and/or budget.  Those cities were chosen as comparables at 
the time for reasons such as rapid growth, particularly in retail, and because they were 
among the cities that Covington was losing some of its employees to.  Such paring back 
of the comparable cities now, however, has the most pronounced effect on the city 
manager position.  Additionally, data for the 2008 survey was collected in 2007 and 
readjusted in January 2008 to incorporate comparable cities’ adopted COLAs.  That time 

107 of 119



 

frame was just prior to the economic collapse, thereby providing data from a more 
robust economy.  Municipalities are normally on the tail end of both economic collapses 
as well as economic recoveries, so many municipalities either have not yet turned their 
attention to surveying salary data or are just beginning to contemplate doing so.  More 
importantly, during the four years from 2010 through 2013, Covington’s city manager 
has consistently requested that the city council forego providing him with the customary 
annual step raise, despite consistently receiving exemplary annual performance 
evaluations.  On two of those four occasions, the council honored his request solely for 
budgetary purposes.  Furthermore, it is the city manager’s intent to continue to decline 
step increases until his compensation falls in line with our new comparable market’s 
average. 
 

−   Building Official – While the best possible matches are made to complete the salary 
survey, no two positions are exactly alike from city to city—particularly when 
comparing smaller cities where positions are, more often than not, required to wear 
multiple hats and maintain a broad scope of responsibility.  Covington’s Building 
Official has myriad certifications—way beyond the basic requirements for this position.  
Additionally, he recently acquired the following highly advanced International Code 
Council Certifications:  Fire Inspector I, Fire Inspector II, Fire Plans Examiner, and 
Certified Fire Marshal.  These certifications will allow the city to discontinue 
contracting out for expensive Fire Marshal services and provide those services in-house. 

 

−   City Engineer – There is a wide disparity in the comparable cities’ ranges—from 
$89,280 to $112,176 annually, with two of the comparable cities’ top step being 
significantly below Covington’s top step as well as the average of the four remaining 
cities’ top step.  If used alone, the average of the majority of cities (the four remaining 
cities’ top step) would be $107,580.  Compared to Covington’s $101,576 top step, those 
comparable cities’ top step is 5.9% higher. The two cities with significantly lower top 
steps could have been eliminated from the survey results as outliers; instead, however, 
they were left in to represent as many of the comparable cities as possible along with 
this explanation for the larger deviation. 

 

−   Permit Center Coordinator – While the +6.5 deviation for this position over the average 
top step for the comparable cities is barely out of the norm (+/- 5%), again, the deviation 
for this position follows much of the same rationale as that for the Building Official 
position, in that it is not exactly the same as the comparables.  This position assumed 
responsibility for a division that shrank from 2 to 1 during the economic downturn, as 
well as certain responsibilities from an Administrative Services Manager position and an 
Administrative Assistant position in another division of the Community Development 
Department that were also eliminated during the economic downturn. 

 

−   Recreation Manager – The survey results for this position follow a similar pattern to the 
City Engineer position.  If one outlier was eliminated from the survey results, the 
resulting deviation would be +6.2% for Covington’s position over the average of the 
remaining comparables—only +1.2% higher than the “normal” +/- 5% deviation. 

 

−   Maintenance Worker – There is also a wide range among the comparable cities for this 
position—from $57,744 to $68,832.  Covington’s top step is slightly below ($225) the 
highest among the comparable cities, likely due to comparisons made in the last survey 
from a comparable city pool that included the larger cities that have now been 
eliminated. 

108 of 119



 

           
II.  Council Position Results 

 

By far, however, the greatest deviations were seen in the city’s council positions—
compensation for Covington’s mayoral position was 61.0% below the comparables’ 
average, while compensation for Covington’s councilmember position(s) was 31.5% below 
the comparables’ average.  This, also, was not surprising due to the fact that compensation 
for the city’s council positions have not been surveyed since 1999—a span of 14 years.  In 
2012, the city council finally requested that their positions be included in the next salary 
survey. 
 
As Cost-of-Living Adjustments (COLAs) have not been applied to the mayor and 
councilmember positions as they have been to staff positions, the below chart was 
formulated to demonstrate how much better the compensation for those positions would have 
kept up with the comparable market had COLAs been applied from 1999 when the last 
council position survey was performed until now: 
 

ASSUMPTIONS on Elected Officials Compensation Rates 
Based on Adding in Adopted COLAs from 2000 to Present 

 
Year 

 
COLA % 

Mayor’s  
Compensation 

Councilmember 
Compensation 

 
1999 

Compensation 
established by 

council taking survey 
into consideration 

 
500 

 
450 

2000 3.2      % 516 464 
2001 3.87    % 536 482 
2002 3.8969% 557 501 
2003 1.5444% 566 509 
2004   .8691% 571 513 
2005 2.531  % 585 526 
2006 2.3109% 599 538 
2007 4.2042% 624 561 
2008 3.3121% 645 580 
2009 6.1852% 685 616 
2010   0         % * 685 616 
2011   0         % * 685 616 
2012 2.9348% 705 634 
2013 2.673  % 724 651 

2013 Survey Average 805 592 
Deviation from 2013 survey 
if COLAs had been applied 

since 1999 

 
 

-16.2% 

 
 

+13.1% 
Current deviation from 

2013 survey since no COLAs 
were applied since 1999 

 
 

-61.0% 

 
 

-31.5%  
 

* There were negative COLAs in 2010 and 2011:  -.7067 and -.0613 for 
2010 and 2011, respectively.  Those percentages were combined and 
deducted from the next positive COLA that occurred in 2012, prior to 
implementing the 2012 COLA. 

 

 

109 of 119



 

Clearly, the above chart demonstrates that there would have been a much lower deviation 
from the comparable market for both the mayor and councilmember compensation rates had 
adopted COLAs been applied to the compensation for those positions as they had been 
applied to staff positions. 
 
Adding even further emphasis to the conclusion that it is important to establish correct 
market rates for those positions and to subsequently add on adopted COLAs, however, is 
that back in 1999, the council chose not to adopt the compensation rates indicated by the 
survey which, for the mayor and councilmembers, respectively, were $550 and $410 per 
month (rounded up from the comparable average of $407).  This occurred because the 
mayor holding office at that time preferred to minimize the difference between the mayor 
and councilmember positions by reducing the mayor’s compensation by $50 per month 
while increasing the councilmember compensation rate by $40 per month.  However, had 
the compensation rates indicated by the 1999 survey ($550/mo. for mayor and $410 for 
councilmembers) been adopted at the time and subsequent approved COLAs added on, 
the 2013 compensation rate for the mayor would have evolved to $796/month and for 
the councilmember position to $592/month—deviations compared to the 2013 survey 
of only -1.1% for the mayor’s position and of 0% for the councilmember position.   

 
Recommendations as a Result of the Survey:   
 

I.  Recommendations for Staff Positions  
 

  Salary adjustments for the 4 positions recommended for salary range increases are included 
on a Decision Card that will be reviewed during the 2014 Budget Workshop.  If approved, 
those adjustments will, for the most part, be issued as additional annual step increases with 
the following guidelines: 

 

 If it has been more than a year since last step raise (due to employee being topped out), then 
placement on an appropriate step within the new range is recommended upon approval of the 
salary survey recommendations (January 2014).   

 If it has not yet been a year since last step raise but incumbent’s present salary falls within the 
new range, then they will be placed on the appropriate step on the anniversary date of their next 
step raise. (This follows the city’s Promotion-in-Place Procedure No. HR-15.1 guidelines.) 

 If it has not yet been a year since last step raise and incumbent’s present salary falls below the 
minimum of the new range, then adjustment(s) will commence upon approval of salary survey 
recommendations (January 2014) in 4% increments (and likely less for the final adjustment when 
multiple adjustments are required) every 6 months until first step of new range is reached. 

 
Considering the salary survey results and the guidelines noted above, it is 
recommended that higher salary ranges be assigned to 4 positions, as well as position 
title changes to 2 of those, as noted: (Exact dollar amounts of the budgetary impact are 
included on Decision Card No. 9, “Implementation of Salary Survey Results,” to be 
presented to the city council at the Annual Budget Workshop being held on Saturday, 
October 26, 2013.  Additional information is also provided in the “Fiscal Impact” section of 
this document, below.) 

 

o Sr. Information Systems Administrator – Salary Range adjustment from Range 12a to 
Range 14a; immediate budgetary impact is minimal as it takes the form of additional 
annual step raises recommended to start in January 2014 and annually thereafter until top 
step of new range is reached.  No position title change is recommended. 

110 of 119



 

o Engineering Technician II/SWM – Salary Range adjustment from Range 8a to Range 
11a; immediate budgetary impact is minimal as it takes the form of additional annual 
step raises recommended to start in January 2014 and annually thereafter until top step of 
new range is reached.  Position title is recommended to change to Surface Water 
Management (SWM) Program Coordinator. 

o Engineering Technician I/GIS – Salary Range adjustment from Range 6 to Range 9; 
three salary adjustments are recommended to bring incumbent up to first step of new 
salary range:  4% in January 2014, 4% in July 2014 (6 mos.), and 3% in January 2015 (6 
mos.); these adjustments will be followed by normal annual step raises thereafter, until 
top step of new range is reached.  Position title is recommended to change to Engineering 
Technician/GIS Coordinator. 

o Public Works Programs Supervisor – Salary Range adjustment from Range 9a to 10a.  
There is no immediate budgetary impact, as incumbent will stay on their annual step 
increase schedule due each December until top step of new range is reached. No position 
title change is recommended. 

 
If the city’s maximum salary step for any position was determined to be greater than 
the average of comparable cities’ top step: no adjustment to the salary range is 
recommended for two reasons:  first, a deviation of +/- 5% is considered an “acceptable” or 
“expected” deviation (hence the recommendation to only adjust ranges upward if the 
deviation was 6% or greater) and, secondly, current ranges were a result of previous salary 
surveys performed in a stronger economy and against a pool of comparable cities that was 
not completely the same as those selected for this survey.  To adjust ranges downward now 
would only unfairly penalize incumbent employees for previous events that were out of their 
control.  Finally, in the 15 years since incorporation, no salary ranges have ever been 
adjusted downward as a result of a salary survey while the affected position has been 
occupied. 

 
II. Recommendations for City Council Positions  
 

Based on the analysis depicted under “Survey Results – II. Council Position Results,” above, 
it is strongly recommended that the compensation rates for both the mayor and 
councilmember positions be brought to, or very close to (making allowances for 
rounding), the average of the comparable cities and that regular COLAs will be 
adopted for those positions as they are adopted for staff positions.  If both conditions 
had been the case way back in 1999 and continued through 2013, no compensation rate 
adjustments would be necessary now—compensation rates would have been right on par 
for both positions.  While council positions are different from staff positions in that 
councilmembers will not seek higher paid positions in neighboring cities, that doesn’t negate 
the need to compensate a position fairly based on relative market values.  

Again, it is the council’s decision as to if and when the matter of their compensation shall be 
addressed—recommended actions in this regard have not been addressed by staff on a 2014 
Decision Card. Please note, however, that even if a compensation adjustment were 
approved by the council, there will be a delay in all council positions receiving the 
approved compensation adjustment.  The Washington State constitution provides that the 
salary of a councilmember cannot be increased or decreased during the term of office (or, in 
other words, after they have already been elected). Therefore, if as a result of this survey 
the council decides to take action to bring their compensation levels on par with the 
comparable market, the adjustment to each councilmember’s compensation would not 

111 of 119



 

take effect until January 1st of the year following the next election of their respective 
positions.  With four positions up for re-election during one year and the other three 
positions up for re-election two years later (or vice versa, depending on which group is up for 
election first following any council action), the compensation rates for each group would 
wind up being adjusted two years apart.  Depending on when action is taken, a 
compensation adjustment could even take close to four years to become effective for 
either group. Stated another way, an approved salary adjustment cannot be applied to a 
councilmember who is in the middle of their term—the approved adjustment will only apply 
to any council position starting the January following re-election for that position after a 
salary adjustment has been approved. 

ALTERNATIVES: 
Not to implement the results of the salary survey or to delay implementation. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
Based on staff recommendations, the estimated fiscal impact of funding salary survey results for 
staff would be ongoing expenses of $2,800 from the General Fund, $100 from the Street Fund, 
$4,745 from the Surface Water Management Fund.  Further detail has been provided on the 
Implementation of Salary Survey Results Decision Card that is included in the 2014 Budget 
Workbook made available to the city council on October 8th, and which will be presented to the 
city council at the October 26, 2013 Annual Budget Workshop. 
 
The fiscal impact of bringing the mayor and councilmember positions on par with the 
comparable market has not been addressed on the 2014 Decision Card addressing the staff salary 
survey results.  Fiscal impact, which would be staggered based on the state constitution, would 
have to be assessed if and when the council decides to address their compensation. 
 
CITY COUNCIL ACTION: _____Ordinance             Resolution   _____Motion      X     Other 
 

Discussion of salary survey results and recommended implementation 
process only at this time.  Council action will occur as a result of Decision 
Cards that are approved for adoption during the 2014 budget process. 

REVIEWED BY:  City Manager, Finance Director 

 

 

112 of 119



2013 CITY OF COVINGTON SALARY SURVEY RESULTS 
- SYNOPSIS OF COMPARABLE CITIES - 

1 
 

 

Cities listed on the following chart are identified in the city’s Employee Compensation Program Procedure No. HR-16.1 as the primary “comparable market” for 
completing job matches.  When adequate (at least three) matches were not able to be made for positions from that primary group, the alternate cities used as per the 
procedure were Des Moines, Federal Way, Enumclaw, Fife, Kenmore, and Tumwater.  Matches from alternate cities were also used in cases where three matches had 
already been made if another very strong job match was identified.  Finally, there were four positions where three matches could not be made using just the primary and 
alternate cities; therefore, matches from the cities of Kent, Shoreline and Olympia were identified and utilized.  On the following “Staff and Council Position Comparisons” 
pages, alternate cities are noted with a capitalized abbreviation in the Job Title section, such as TUM=Tumwater; FDWY=Federal Way; SHRL=Shoreline; KNT=Kent, etc. 

 
 
 
 
City 

 
 
 
 

County 

 
 
 
 
Pop. 

 
 

Form  
of  

Govt. 

 
2013 
Total 

Annual 
Budget 

 
 

Annual 
Sales 

Tax Rev 

 
Total 
FTEs 
w/o 

Conts 

 
 
 

Contract 
Services 

 
 
 

Annual  
COLA & % 

Step or  
Merit or  
Combo  
Annual 
Raise 

 
Steps in  
Salary  

Ranges 

 
 
 

Step 
% 

 
 

%  
Between  
Ranges 

 Bonney Lake Pierce 18,010 Myr-Cncl   43,286,512 3,198,873 128.00 Fire Possible Step 7 3 % 10 % 
 Issaquah King 32,130 Myr-Cncl 138,364,874 

     (2014) 
 11,278,686 235.00  Neg. wage 

incs. Replcd 
100% of 2%-
5%  COLAs, 
formula over 
5% 

Step 6 5 %   5 % 

 Maple Valley King 23,910 Cncl-Mgr   31,879,514 1,916,255   40.50 City Atty, Muni Svcs, 
Prsctr,DV 
Adv, Police, Parks & 
Rec Instruction, 
PW/CD Projs.,etc. 

90% CPI-W 
(% can vary in 
down 
economy) 

Step N/A -- Being 
constructed 

 Mill Creek Snohomish 18,600 Cncl-Mgr   39,300,473 2,274,813   63.35 Fire, Pros,Pub 
Def,Jail, Dispatch,IT 
Svcs, 
DV Adv 

100% CPI-W Step 8 4%   5 % 

 Mountlake  
 Terrace 

Snohomish 20,160 Cncl-Mgr   49,150,885 1,800,000 153.37 Ntwk Svcs,CAFR 
Prep,Lbr Neg, 
Partial: Code Comp, 
Dev Svcs, Ec Dev, 
Street Mnt,SWM, 
Repairs, etc. 

CPI-W - % 
varies 

Combo Can  
vary  
per  

union 

Can vary  
per union 

Varies per 
union 

 University 
 Place 

Pierce 31,340 Cncl-Mgr   37,500,000 2,116,000   48.13 Court,Jail,Police,Ani
mal Control, Some 
Parks & Rec 
instruction 

CPI-U 
possible; 
currently 0%  

Step 8 4% Varies 

 Woodinville King 10,990 Cncl-Mgr   20,382,874 4,429,000   36.00 Police, City Atty, 
Special Events 

90% CIP-W Step 6 5 % -- 

 COVINGTON KING 18,100 CNCL-MGR   27,389,430 2,988,000   43.30 Police,Cty Atty, Pub 
Def, Pros,Jail, Court, 
Rec Class 
Inst,Animal Ctl. 

100% CPI-W STEP 7 3 %    6 % 
(“Half ranges” 
of 3% used for 

salary 
placement) 

ATTACHMENT 1

113 of 119



 2013 CITY OF COVINGTON SALARY SURVEY RESULTS

- STAFF AND COUNCIL POSITION COMPARISONS -

BONNEY MAPLE MILL MOUNTLAKE UNIVERSITY COMPS COVGTN $ %

LAKE ISSAQUAH VALLEY CREEK TERRACE PLACE WOODINVILLE MAX AVG MAX VARIANCE VARIANCE

SrAcct/FnOpsSpr Acctnt Accnt TUM-AsstFinDir AstFnDr/Ops

Accountant, Sr 81,324 92,280 71,578 81,588 90,144 102,840 78,936 1.3%

Acctg Spec II Fiscal Spec I Acctg Spec Fin Spec

Accounting Clerk 58,260 59,340 58,339 57,984 57,756 61,524 3.6%

SrLfgd Rcrtn Clk II

Aquatics Lead 15.50 16.12 -1.2%

Rcrtn Spec FIFE-AqtcsSpvr FDWY-RecCrd2

Aquatics Specialist 62,328 53,208 69,132 -0.8%

Rcrtn Spvr FDWY-RecSpr

Aquatics Supervisor 96,900 80,124 77,976 -4.0%
TUM-Bldg&FireSftyOff

Building Official 117,780 90,410 89,952 97,056 9.6%

Cty Clk Cty Clk

City Clerk/Exec Asst 96,864 90,359 81,558 84,660 89,856 3.4%

City Adm Cty Adm

City Manager 150,492 174,024 146,475 144,996 144,000 148,380 145,650 11.1%

Cd Cmp Offcr Bldg Insp/CEO

Code Enf Officer 75,300 75,972 70,195 66,248 67,572 2.3%
OLY-Comm Mgr Comm Mgr TUM-Com&MktgSpec Asst to Cty Mgr

Comm & Marketing Mgr 94,560 101,748 72,168 89,856 -3.4%

Cnst Insp II Cnst Insp II

Construction Inspector 64,560 77,868 74,389 80,226 3.7%

Rec & Info Spec Dpty Cty Clk Dpty Cty Clk Dpty Cty Clk DptyCC/Exec Asst

Deputy City Clerk, Sr 66,240 72,324 66,117 67,572 69,336 0.4%

Dev Svcs Dir PW/CD Dir Comm&EcDv Dir Plng&DvSvcDir DevSvcsDir

Director, Community Dev 135,816 157,824 130,236 120,552 117,696 122,112 129,829 2.7%

Chief Fin Officer

Director, Finance 129,036 157,824 130,236 114,804 117,696 122,112 155,784 1.2%

Fac&SpProjsMgr PW/Parks Dir PW&Pks Dir

Director, Parks & Recreation 116,436 150,312 130,236 122,400 122,112 4.4%

JOB TITLE  (Listed Only If Different than Covington's Job Title)

Annual Maximum Salary Step

1,087

58,867 61,057 2,190

15.81 15.62 -0.19

85,527 86,614

3,150

150,574 169,347 18,773

71,057 72,722 1,665

-499

85,000 81,709 -3,291

98,800 109,347 10,548

61,556 61,057

88,659 91,809

68,318 68,607 289

130,581 134,141 3,560

89,583 86,614 -2,969

74,261 77,085 2,824

132,499 134,141 1,642

128,299 134,141 5,842

2 114 of 119



 2013 CITY OF COVINGTON SALARY SURVEY RESULTS

- STAFF AND COUNCIL POSITION COMPARISONS -

BONNEY MAPLE MILL MOUNTLAKE UNIVERSITY COMPS COVGTN $ %

LAKE ISSAQUAH VALLEY CREEK TERRACE PLACE WOODINVILLE MAX AVG MAX VARIANCE VARIANCE

PW Eng Dir PW/CD Dir PW/Parks Dir PW&Pks Dir

Director, Public Works 135,816 157,824 130,236 120,552 122,400 122,112 129,828 2.2%

Sr Engr Civil Engr II Sr Engr

Engineer, City 116,436 112,176 97,573 104,136 89,280 89,856 7.1%

Engr II Civil Engr Civil Engr II

Engineer, Devel Review 94,848 92,280 89,952 89,280 5.9%

GIS Analyst GIS Coord GIS Anlyst GIS Spec

Engineering Tech/GIS 79,260 72,324 76,930 65,499 -20.4%

Asst Engr SWM/NPDES MgrSW Pgm Spec StmWtr Pgm Mgr Engr I

Engineering Tech/SWM 79,260 89,616 67,128 89,280 78,936 -21.3%

* P/T Position; but using annualized $* FDWY-Ad Asst II Adm Supp Asst III Lgl Adm Asst

Exec Dept Asst/Receptionist 55,332 57,912 57,984 -2.0%

Accountant Fiscal Spec II Accountant Sr Fin Spec

Finance Specialist 73,380 68,832 67,128 67,572 -0.9%

IT Mgr IT Sys/Ntwk Anly IT Mgr IT Syst Admin Ntwk Admin

Info Systems Admin/Sr 105,096 96,900 104,471 82,452 84,660 -12.5%

FDWY Rec Ldr I

Lifeguard 20.20 13.00 11.25 13.62 -1.1%

Util or Trans Spvr PW Ops Mgr Infrast Mnt Mgr PW Spvr PW Spvr

Maintenance Supervisor 90,096 101,748 88,881 85,668 75,936 83,830 -1.2%

Mnt Wkr II FacMWII/PkMnLead Mnt Wkr II Mnt Wkr II MW II/III

Maintenance Worker 61,332 68,832 64,073 60,888 59,134 57,744 64,548 9.1%

Mnt Helper Seas Mnt Aide Mnt Aide Seasonal Laborer

Maintenance Wkr, Seasonal 14.00 14.50 17.12 15.53 15.00 11.73 5.3%

Adm Supp Asst Adm Asst I Office Asst FDWY-AdmAsstI

Management Assistant 51,168 48,827 43,272 47,700 -1.6%

Adm Spec II Admin Asst III Office Spec

Office Tech II/Receptionist 55,356 57,912 57,756 -1.8%

Prmt Coord Prmt Tech II Sr Prmt Spec TUM-Prmt Mgr

Permit Center Coordinator 71,532 65,508 67,572 83,712 6.5%

131,253 134,141 2,888

101,576 109,347 7,771

80,844 66,664 -14,180

57,076 55,973 -1,103

91,590 97,319 5,729

73,503 61,057 -12,446

14.52 14.36 -0.16

87,693 86,614 -1,079

69,228 68,607 -621

94,716 84,162 -10,554

47,742 46,995 -747

57,008 55,973 -1,035

62,364 68,607 6,243

14.65 15.46 0.81

72,081 77,085 5,004

JOB TITLE  (Listed Only If Different than Covington's Job Title)

Annual Maximum Salary Step

3 115 of 119



 2013 CITY OF COVINGTON SALARY SURVEY RESULTS

- STAFF AND COUNCIL POSITION COMPARISONS -

BONNEY MAPLE MILL MOUNTLAKE UNIVERSITY COMPS COVGTN $ %

LAKE ISSAQUAH VALLEY CREEK TERRACE PLACE WOODINVILLE MAX AVG MAX VARIANCE VARIANCE

TUM-HR Anlyst HR Spec Mgmt Analyst SrDpyCClk/MgtAn

Personnel & HS Analyst 73,980 67,128 66,036 74,136 0.5%

HR Mgr HR Mgr HR Mgr HR Mgr

Personnel Manager 90,096 117,780 75,177 84,660 -3.0%

Planner

Planner, Associate 79,260 73,404 74,004 72,456 78,936 -0.9%
KNTPlng&DevCoor Assoc Plnr SHRLPk&RecCoor

Planner, Parks 76,080 74,004 77,916 1.4%

Sr Plnr Sr Plnr Sr Planner

Planner, Principal 92,280 89,125 96,408 89,857 -3.0%

Asst Plnr

Planner, Senior 81,324 83,688 81,588 82,452 84,660 1.7%

Sr PE/BI

Plans Examiner 79,260 83,688 84,660 78,936 5.7%

Supp Svcs Coord PWPgmProjMgr PW Spvr

Programs Supervisor, PW 69,732 82,447 75,936 -7.6%
TUM-RcPgmAideI DesM-RecAtt I Rec Clerk I

Recreation Aide 9.35 11.50 13.86 3.6%

Rec Spec Rec Spec DesM-SrSvcPgmr

Recreation Assistant 20.20 19.66 18.38 -4.7%

Rec Coord Rec Mgr Rec Spvr Rec Spvr

Recreation Manager 79,816 82,447 74,004 77,976 84,660 7.9%

Swim  Inst Rec Ldr II SHRLSrLfgd/Inst

Water Safety Instructor 20.20 16.93 20.20 -3.1%

N/A - ELECTED

800 MAYOR 825 700 1,000 1,845 700 -61.0%

400 700 550 500 800 1,474 600 -31.5%

91,928 89,213 -2,715

75,612 74,903 -709

70,320 70,664 344

0.43

76,000 77,085 1,085

82,742 84,162 1,420

81,636 86,614 4,978

91,918 -2,70589,213

19.41 18.54 -0.87

79,781 86,614 6,833

76,038 70,664

No

592 450 -142

100% No No

805 500 -305

19.11 18.54 -0.57

-5,374

11.57 12.00

JOB TITLE  (Listed Only If Different than Covington's Job Title)

Annual Maximum Salary

Mayor

Council

Medical Benefits Provided? No No No No No No

4 116 of 119



  
Covington City Council Meeting 

           Date: October 22, 2013 
 

 
DISCUSSION OF  

FUTURE AGENDA TOPICS: 
 
 
 

8:00 a.m., Saturday, October 26, 2013 
Special Meeting – Budget Workshop  

 
 

7:00 p.m., Tuesday, November 12, 2013 Regular Meeting 
 
 

(Draft Agendas Attached) 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

117 of 119



 Covington: Unmatched quality of life 
 
 
 

 
CITY OF COVINGTON 

SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA – BUDGET WORKSHOP 
Council Chambers – 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

www.covingtonwa.gov 

Saturday, October 26, 2013 – 8:00 a.m. 
 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION: 
The workshop is an informal meeting involving discussion between and among the City Council 
and city staff regarding presentation and strategies.  Workshops may involve presentations, 
feedback, brainstorming, etc., regarding further work to be done by the staff on key policy 
matters. 
 
CALL CITY COUNCIL WORKSHOP TO ORDER  
 
ROLL CALL 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
ITEM(S) FOR DISCUSSION 
1. Department 2014 Budget Presentations (Hendrickson) 

a. Executive (Matheson) 
b. Finance (Hendrickson) 
c. Police (Klason) 
d. Community Development (Hart) 
e. Public Works (Vondran) 
f. Parks & Recreation (Thomas) 
 

2. Review Budget Strategies (Matheson) 
 
3. Discuss Budget Presentations (Council) 
 
 
ADJOURN           
               
 
For disability accommodations call 253-480-2400 at least 24 hours in advance.  For TDD relay service call (800) 833-6384 and 
ask the operator to dial 253-480-2400.  
 

Draft as of 

10/17/2013 

   

 

118 of 119

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/�


For disability accommodation contact the City of Covington at 253-480-2400 a minimum of 24 hours in advance.  For TDD 
relay service, dial (800) 833-6384 and ask the operator to dial 253-480-2400. 

Covington: Unmatched quality of life 
CITY OF COVINGTON 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
www.covingtonwa.gov 

 
 
Tuesday, November 12, 2013                                                                     City Council Chambers 
7:00 p.m.                                                                   16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington 

 
CALL CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER 
   
ROLL CALL/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT Speakers will state their name, address, and organization. Comments are directed to the City Council, not 
the audience or staff. Comments are not intended for conversation or debate and are limited to no more than four minutes per speaker.  
Speakers may request additional time on a future agenda as time allows.* 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
C-1. Minutes:  October 8, 2013 Regular Meeting Minutes; October 22, 2013 Joint Meeting with 

Arts Commission Minutes; October 22, 2013 Regular Meeting Minutes; and October 26, 
2013 Budget Workshop Minutes (Scott) 

C-2. Vouchers (Hendrickson) 
C-3. Adopt New VEBA Employee Agreement (Beaufrere) 
C-4. Abaco Pacific Agreement for Real Estate Services (Vondran) 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
1. Receive Testimony from the Public and Consider Interim Zoning Regulations Regarding 

Recreational Marijuana (Springer) 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
2. Consider Resolution Amending 2014 Fees (Hart) 
3. Lease with Kent School District for Skate Park (Thomas) 
4. Consider 2014 Legislative Agenda (Matheson) 
5. Third Quarter Financial Report (Hendrickson) 

 
COUNCIL/STAFF COMMENTS - Future Agenda Topics 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT *See Guidelines on Public Comments above in First Public Comment Section 

 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – If Needed 
  
ADJOURN 

Draft  

as of 10/17/2013 
 

119 of 119

http://www.covingtonwa.gov/�

	10-22-2013 Regular Meeting
	Tuesday, October 22, 2013                                                                         City Council Chambers
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA

	Consent Item C-1 Green Sheet 10-22-2013 Voucher Blue Sheet
	Consent Agenda Item C-1

	Consent Item C-1 Attachments
	Consent Item C-2 Green Sheet & Attachments 10 22 13 Blue Sheet & Attachments 1 & 2  ILA AWC S
	Item 1 Blue Sheet 10-22-13 Revenue Hearing Blue Sheet
	Agenda Item 1

	Item 1 Attachment 1 2014 Description of Revenue Sources2
	Real Estate Excise Tax (REET) Real Estate Excise Tax Funds
	LICENSES AND PERMITS
	FINES AND FORFEITURES
	MISCELLANEOUS


	Item 1 Attachment 2
	Item 1 Attachment 3 2013 - 2019 Forecast with decision card scenarios
	GF
	Street
	DSF
	Parks
	SWM

	Item 1 Attachment 4 Prop Tax Worksheet - Presentation
	Sheet1

	Item 2 Blue Sheet - Kent School CIP  Impact Fees 2014 Adoption_SBS Edit (2)
	Agenda Item 2

	Item 2 Attachment 1 Ordinance Adopting Kent School Impact Fees 2014 with Exhibit A  B 10-22-13_SBS Edit (3)
	Item 2 Attachment 1 Exhibit A 2013 Capital Facilities Plan
	CFP_Cover_DRAFT_2013_Revised_RAS_v2_PrintVersion_GD
	B&W.pdf

	Item 2 Attachment 1 Exhibit B to Ordinance-Table of 2014 Proposed Impact Fees 10-09-12
	Item 3 Blue Sheet_Recreational Marijauna Interim Zoning Ordinance_10_22_13_SBS Edit
	Item 3 Attachment 1 ORD_Interim Zoning Regulations_Recreational Marijuana_10_22_13_SBS Edit
	Item 3 Attachment 2 i_502_critical zone restriction map_revised 10-22-13
	Item 4 Blue Sheet 10-22-13 Blue Sheet-Discuss Results of Salary Survey
	Item 4 Attachment 1-2013 Salary Survey Results
	Comp Cities Synopsis-FINAL (Autosaved).pdf
	Position Analyses Against Comps-FINAL

	Future Agenda Cover Sheet for Two Meetings
	10-26-2013 Budget Workshop.
	Council Chambers – 16720 SE 271st Street, Suite 100, Covington
	Saturday, October 26, 2013 – 8:00 a.m.
	CALL CITY COUNCIL WORKSHOP TO ORDER
	ROLL CALL
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA


	11-12-2013 Regular Meeting
	Tuesday, November 12, 2013                                                                     City Council Chambers
	APPROVAL OF AGENDA




